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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Good morning,

          3  everybody. Good morning, Commissioner, ladies and

          4  gentlemen, members of the Committee, visitors. Today

          5  the City Council's Public Safety Committee will

          6  conduct an oversight hearing on the Mayor's

          7  Management Report for Fiscal Year 1999, as it

          8  relates to the operation of the New York City Police

          9  Department.

         10                 The City Charter requires that this

         11  Fiscal Year 1999 Mayor's Management Report focus on

         12  the NYPD performance during the period July 1st,

         13  1998, through June 1999.

         14                 The MMR presents long-term data for

         15  many key indicators and compares how the Police

         16  Department performed in relation to its plan.

         17                 Based on the City's adopted budget it

         18  highlights objectives and performance targets for

         19  Fiscal Year 2000.

         20                 Almost everybody is pleased with the

         21  general success of the Police Department in meeting

         22  its stated mission. Most New Yorkers have

         23  experienced a reduction in crime and disorder and

         24  the fear resulting from these conditions.

         25  Nonetheless, general success allows no retreat from
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          2  the thorough review of an agencies operations and

          3  policies. Today the Committee will look at the

          4  Mayor's Management report and its report on major

          5  felony crimes, officer staffing levels, use of

          6  civilians, response times to crimes in progress,

          7  drunk driving initiative, anti-gun strategy, street

          8  crimes unit, and other relevant matters.

          9                 I would note that the Committee

         10  briefing document, which I commend to you, discusses

         11  its ongoing project of looking at strategic planning

         12  within the Police Department. In June of this year I

         13  issued a report with the Finance Division of the

         14  City Council entitled, "A Better Approach:

         15  Strategic Planning for the Police Department", which

         16  focused on the general utility of strategic planning

         17  for government agencies, the appropriateness of the

         18  NYPD's goals and objectives as expressed in a

         19  variety of documents, and a series of suggested

         20  improvements in the way the Police Department

         21  conducts its strategic planning.

         22                 One suggestion was that the

         23  Department link its budget to its strategic

         24  planning.

         25                 At the outset of this project the
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          2  Council requested but hasn't received the strategic

          3  planning statement from the Department. This forces

          4  us to review the Mayor's Management Report as the

          5  NYPD's planning document to the extent of the

          6  presentation of the goals and objectives in the

          7  Mayor's Management Report.

          8                 The Mayor's Management Report

          9  contains goals and objectives and lays out the

         10  Department's major strategy for achieving them. The

         11  Fiscal Year '99 MMR contains five goals and 14

         12  objectives.

         13                 However, it is difficult to find the

         14  links between the budget and the Department's goals

         15  and objectives. In addition, the goals and objective

         16  section doesn't address several important factors

         17  relating to the performance of the agency. There are

         18  no goals and objectives relating to police

         19  brutality, corruption or other misconduct in how to

         20  prevent these, diversification of the force,

         21  management of the E911 Public Safety Answer Centers,

         22  utilization of the work product of the Civilian

         23  Complaint Review Board, release of agency data to

         24  the public, and the civilianization of the force.

         25                 Over the next several months, this
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          2  Committee will focus on the link between the Mayor's

          3  Management Report and the budget and attempt to

          4  answer questions including what links in fact exist

          5  between the MMR, the stated goals and objectives of

          6  the Department and its budget. Do the goals,

          7  objectives and performance measures match up with

          8  spending allocations? Are the agency's budget

          9  resources being used effectively to achieve its

         10  stated goals and objectives?

         11                 This ongoing project has long-term

         12  implication, which I hope the NYPD, as other City

         13  agencies follow in the future. It is designed to

         14  improve budgeting, not only for this agency, but to

         15  make it a model for other agencies in the City.

         16                 We look forward to your testimony,

         17  Commissioner Safir, and your answers on the above

         18  and other areas of concern that we pose.

         19                 I am joined by members of the

         20  Committee, from my left, Martin Golden, Victor

         21  Robles, Madeline Provenzano, and staff who worked on

         22  this, Ted Becker, Andy Grossman, our Finance

         23  Division analyst and Bob Benfatto, a lawyer on my

         24  staff. Welcome. Would you like to begin with a

         25  prepared statement?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chairman. Good morning. Thank you for inviting me

          4  here today to discuss the Police Department's

          5  performance in Fiscal Year 1999.

          6                 The New York City Police Department

          7  had yet another banner year in Fiscal '99, with

          8  significant improvement in all major indicators

          9  associated with our mission to reduce crime and

         10  improve the quality of life for the citizens of this

         11  City.

         12                 Overall major felony crime dropped by

         13  11 percent in Fiscal 1999, to the lowest level in

         14  over 30 fiscal years. Based on the FBI's 1998 data,

         15  New York City is the safest large city in America,

         16  with the lowest per capita crime rate of all U.S.

         17  cities with a population over 1 million. We are

         18  safer than 165 American cities with populations over

         19  100,000, including Seattle, Phoenix, Orlando,

         20  Nashville, Topeka, Charlotte-Mecklenburg, Boise,

         21  Anchorage and the list goes on. We even have less

         22  crime per capita than San Diego, which itself has

         23  had great success in crime reduction.

         24                 Of course we still face challenges in

         25  policing New York. Even though we are the nation's
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          2  safest large city, pockets of crime remain, and

          3  their pernicious influence debases the well-being of

          4  New Yorkers in many neighborhoods.

          5                 For example, while the number of

          6  murders in the City dropped by approximately two

          7  percent in the fiscal year, there has been a slight

          8  uptrend in murders so far this calendar year. Today,

          9  we have had 52 additional murders as compared to

         10  last year. This increase is certainly troubling,

         11  especially when it comes after a steady downward

         12  trend in homicides over the last five years.

         13                 However, statistics show that after

         14  an initial rise of 15 percent in the first half of

         15  this year, the number of homicides has leveled off

         16  relative to 1998. Even under our most conservative

         17  projections, we will end 1999 with the second lowest

         18  number of murders in 32 years, second only to last

         19  year. We will continue to use this information in

         20  the same way we use all timely and accurate

         21  intelligence collected and analyzed through the

         22  CompStat process: to refocus and redirect resources

         23  as necessary to address the problem.

         24                 For example, when gang activity

         25  flared, we re-examined our approach to gang violence
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          2  and set up a new gang investigation division to

          3  consolidate our efforts of fighting gang-related

          4  crime. We have increased arrests of gang members by

          5  18 percent, while lowering gang incidence by five

          6  percent. Just last month I ordered the expansion and

          7  reorganization of our fugitive division, which is

          8  responsible for tracking offenders sought on

          9  warrants. We anticipate that this reorganization

         10  will greatly enhance our efforts to get known

         11  violent felons off the street.

         12                 And when we detected an increase in

         13  deaths related to domestic violence earlier this

         14  year, we initiated an intensive coordinated response

         15  that included establishing domestic violence teams

         16  in selected precincts and more home visits by police

         17  officers to victims of domestic violence. These

         18  measures appear to have had an impact as homicides

         19  related to domestic violence have dropped by nine

         20  percent compared to last year.

         21                 In Fiscal 1999, we continued to

         22  expand on our proactive approach to domestic

         23  violence. Building on a pilot project first

         24  developed by the Housing Bureau, Community Policing

         25  Officers visited over 6,000 residences in public
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          2  housing that had been the scene of domestic violence

          3  in order to interview family members and give them

          4  information on domestic violence. Citywide we were

          5  able to serve 89 percent of orders of protection we

          6  received, up from 81 percent last year.

          7                 We are also working on tightening up

          8  our reporting and monitoring procedures. While the

          9  number of domestic violence radio runs remained

         10  roughly stable in Fiscal 1999, the number of

         11  Domestic Incidence Reports filed by officers

         12  increased by 11 percent. We are also working to

         13  enhance our electronic complaint system to better

         14  track incidents involving domestic violence.

         15                 As part of our more focused response,

         16  we established dedicated Domestic Violence Teams in

         17  15 precincts. These teams are tasked with improving

         18  domestic violence investigations, increasing

         19  apprehensions, and enhancing support services for

         20  victims. Initial results are impressive: The first

         21  two teams established in the 43rd and 44th Precincts

         22  in the Bronx, made 344 domestic violence arrests in

         23  Fiscal 1999, an increase of 287 percent over the

         24  number of domestic violence arrests effected in

         25  those precincts in the previous year. The teams also
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          2  made 1,200 visits to homes that were the scene of

          3  domestic violence incidents.

          4                 We also set up a pilot project in

          5  Queens, in coordination with several other city

          6  agencies to help us respond more quickly to domestic

          7  violence victims who are in trouble. Participants

          8  receive pre-programmed cellular phones, home and

          9  personal alarms, caller ID boxes and other devices

         10  that will allow them to call the 911 system

         11  immediately if they are threatened. We have

         12  protocols in place to ensure that these calls for

         13  help receive the highest priority response.

         14                 In Fiscal 2000, we will be expanding

         15  the system to nine additional precincts. The transit

         16  system was a stand out area for crime reduction in

         17  fiscal 1999, with a 22 percent drop in index crime,

         18  twice as big as the Citywide decrease.

         19                 I am also pleased to note that in

         20  spite of news coverage that gave a high profile to

         21  several crimes in Central Park during the year,

         22  violent crime there actually decreased 21 percent in

         23  Fiscal 1999.

         24                 Residents of public housing are

         25  enjoying increased safety and security as well. In
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          2  cooperation with the New York City Housing

          3  Authority, we have installed over 567 closed-circuit

          4  television cameras in Housing Authority developments

          5  to date. In Fiscal 1999, crime on Housing Authority

          6  property dropped by a percentage similar to the

          7  Citywide average.

          8                 Residents of the first two

          9  developments to receive cameras, Ulysses S. Grant

         10  Houses and the Albany Houses, have seen even greater

         11  crime reductions, 26 percent and 15 percent

         12  respectively in the first six months of 1999,

         13  compared to the same period in 1998.

         14                 An additional 714 cameras are

         15  scheduled to be installed in Housing Authority

         16  developments in the next 18 months.

         17                 In Fiscal 1999, our focused approach

         18  to narcotics enforcement was once again a

         19  significant driver of crime reduction. We

         20  established new Narcotics Initiatives in Central

         21  Bronx, East Harlem, Northwest Queens and Southern

         22  Brooklyn, to bring the total n umber of precincts

         23  covered by initiatives up to 37 throughout the five

         24  boroughs.

         25                 Narcotics arrests increased by seven
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          2  percent, and our officers executed 16 percent more

          3  search warrants. As a result, we seized over 50,000

          4  pounds of narcotics, more than double the amount

          5  seized in Fiscal 1998. The quantity of cocaine

          6  seized was up 93 percent, while marijuana seizures

          7  grew by 177 percent.

          8                 Also, in Fiscal 1999, we established

          9  eight additional Model blocks where we employ

         10  intensive narcotics enforcement combined with

         11  special patrol and community improvement tactics, to

         12  drive drug dealers out and return the blocks to the

         13  law-abiding citizens who live there. There are now a

         14  total of 21 Model Blocks.

         15                 This Department continues to expand

         16  the breadth and scope of our outreach to New York

         17  City's youth. Officers in our Drug Abuse Resistance

         18  Education, or DARE, reached more than 67,000

         19  students in 340 schools in Fiscal year 1999. Our

         20  GREAT Program, Gang Resistance Education and

         21  Training, included almost 20,000 children, and a

         22  similar number of youths participated in the

         23  numerous Police Athletic League events we sponsored.

         24  In the Summer of 1999, over 1,000 students graduated

         25  from our Youth Police Academy. In addition, we are
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          2  moving forward with plans for the Queens Law

          3  Enforcement High School, to encourage young people

          4  to explore careers in law enforcement.

          5                 In Fiscal 1999, we also returned more

          6  than 133,000 truants to school, an increase of 18

          7  percent over last year. Last December we assumed

          8  responsibility for the Board of Education's Division

          9  of School Safety. Since that time, we have

         10  introduced improved screening of School Safety

         11  Agents and vastly expanded their training to include

         12  our regulations and strategies concerning Courtesy,

         13  Professionalism and Respect, youth gangs, domestic

         14  violence, off-duty conduct and other relevant NYPD

         15  procedures. We have also tightened crime reporting

         16  and tracking protocols in the schools to bring them

         17  into alignment with our proven systems.

         18                 While we continue to work to increase

         19  the opportunity for positive contact between youth

         20  and police officers, we are primarily a law

         21  enforcement agency and many of our arrests involve

         22  juveniles. However, where appropriate, we try to

         23  divert youth apprehended for minor crimes to

         24  Alternatives to Court, structured community service

         25  and counseling programs run by community
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          2  organizations in all five boroughs.

          3                 These agencies submit written

          4  progress reports on the young people referred to

          5  them, and monitor them for one year after they

          6  complete the program.

          7                 In the first three quarters of this

          8  year, almost 1,500 youths were diverted away from

          9  the court system and into one of these programs.

         10                 We also continue to be sensitive to

         11  the corrosive effect of hate crimes in New York,

         12  which is one of the most diverse cities in the

         13  world. The recent Ku Klux Klan rally aptly

         14  demonstrated the level of passion that can be

         15  stirred up by bigots and hate-mongers. I am

         16  gratified to report that with our increased

         17  enforcement effort in this area, bias crime has

         18  decreased by 19 percent in Fiscal 1999, while

         19  arrests for such offenses increased by 16 percent.

         20                 Crimes against gays and lesbians

         21  which had been on the rise, decreased by nearly 25

         22  percent.

         23                 All indicators suggest that the

         24  traditional reactive response to crime is becoming a

         25  smaller proportion of our workload. For example, the
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          2  number of crime in progress radio runs this

          3  Department answered Citywide decreased by three

          4  percent, even as calls to 911 increased by five

          5  percent in the fiscal year. This suggests that with

          6  the drop in crime citizens want more police

          7  attention to their other concerns such as quality of

          8  life offenses.

          9                 We have improved our performance in

         10  this area as well. In Fiscal 1999, our Civil

         11  Enforcement Initiative court-ordered closings of 696

         12  businesses - an increase of 40 percent over last

         13  year - for violations such as illegal sale of drugs

         14  or drug paraphernalia, unlawful sale of alcohol,

         15  gambling on the premises and fencing of stolen

         16  property. We also initiated 77 nuisance abatement

         17  actions against adult businesses under the

         18  provisions of the New York City zoning resolution.

         19                 With regard to other quality of life

         20  concerns, our offices issued 31 percent more

         21  summonses for Unreasonable Noise in 1999, than they

         22  did the previous year. Arrests for graffiti

         23  vandalism rose 44 percent, and arrests for

         24  prostitution increased by 16 percent, while arrests

         25  for patronizing prostitutes rose 31 percent. Our
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          2  fireworks Interdiction Teams, in conjunction with

          3  other City and federal agencies, seized 2,278 cases

          4  of fireworks, which used to be an annual plague on

          5  the Fourth of July. This year, there were only eight

          6  injuries associated with Fourth of July fireworks,

          7  as compared to 13 injuries in 1998.

          8                 In Fiscal 1999, we initiated Traffic

          9  Stat, similar to our CompStat process, to monitor,

         10  evaluated and develop traffic control strategies,

         11  and to coordinate our response to highway and

         12  traffic concerns. We collect data on accident-prone

         13  locations and traffic safety enforcement efforts in

         14  order to develop effective accident reduction

         15  programs. Our executive staff reviews each command

         16  monthly on its accident reduction efforts.

         17                 In February of 1999, we initiated a

         18  major crackdown on drunken driving in New York City,

         19  including random checkpoints and the seizure of

         20  offenders' vehicles. As you know, a recent decision

         21  by the Court of Appeals supported these seizures.

         22  Between February and October of this year, our

         23  officers made 3,231 arrests for driving while

         24  intoxicated or impaired and seized 1,156 vehicles.

         25  The number of DWI-related accidents during this time
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          2  period dropped by more than 18 percent.

          3                 Targeted operations, such as Move

          4  Along and Don't Block the Box help traffic move more

          5  quickly by discouraging double parking and other

          6  offenses that block the flow of vehicles. Our

          7  Aggressive Driving Initiative targets speeders and

          8  other dangerous drivers for enhanced prosecution.

          9  Since July of this y ear we have issued over 16,000

         10  summonses under this program. Our Operation Buckle

         11  Up, which addresses violations of seatbelt

         12  regulations, resulted in the issuance of more than

         13  30,000 summonses.

         14                 Summonses and arrests don't tell the

         15  whole story, however. The bottom line is safety for

         16  motorists and drivers. In Fiscal 1999, we had 17

         17  percent fewer pedestrian traffic fatalities than in

         18  the prior year, and in September of 1999, the

         19  American Automobile Association awarded New York

         20  City the Distinguished Achievement Award for traffic

         21  safety.

         22                 We continue to instill in our

         23  officers the principles of Courtesy, Professionalism

         24  and Respect, through cultural diversity training in

         25  the Police Academy and in-service workshops for

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            19

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  veteran officers.

          3                 In making decisions about training

          4  and instruction in this Department, I have the

          5  invaluable aid of the m embers of our Board of

          6  Visitors, who are drawn from academia, business,

          7  law, former members of the NYPD, and community

          8  groups. Their input ensures that our lesson plans

          9  include the best and latest in educational thought

         10  and reflect the priorities of all New Yorkers.

         11                 We also test and monitor our

         12  personnel to ensure that they live up to the

         13  standards they are taught in training. In Fiscal

         14  1999, we administered over 6,000 CPR compliance

         15  tests which were designed by a group of community

         16  and business leaders known as the CPR Advisory

         17  Board. Only 51 officers tested were found to be

         18  below standards less than one percent, while more

         19  than 400 received an exceptional rating.

         20                 We also have a policy to reward

         21  uniformed and civilian employees who demonstrate

         22  exceptional dedication to CPR principles. At the

         23  command level, rewards include a dedicated parking

         24  space and priority for days off. Of those honored by

         25  their command, the CPR Recognition Committee selects
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          2  a smaller group for cash awards and points toward

          3  eligibility for desirable assignments.

          4                 In order to supervise our officers

          5  more effectively, we have increased the number of

          6  sergeants and lieutenants assigned to patrol

          7  precincts. The average number of police officers

          8  supervised by each sergeant declined once again this

          9  year to less than seven. This increased supervision

         10  contributed to a decline in the number of

         11  allegations of excessive force and abuse of

         12  authority lodged against our police officers with

         13  the Civilian Complaint Review Board.

         14                 Fifteen years ago there was one

         15  allegation of excessive force for every seven

         16  uniformed members of the service: five years ago the

         17  ratio dropped to one for every ten members. Today

         18  that ratio is dramatically improved, standing at one

         19  force complaint for every 16 officers.

         20                 We have also seen a ten percent

         21  reduction in the number of complaints of corruption

         22  lodged against our officers in the first three

         23  quarters of the calendar year.

         24                 Our officers continue to be among the

         25  most restrained of any Police Department in the
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          2  country. Comparing 1998 to 1993, the number of

          3  intentional shooting incidents by our officers

          4  decreased by almost 50 percent, while the number of

          5  officers in the Department actually increased by 36

          6  percent. In that period, the number of fatal

          7  shootings dropped 17 percent and the number of

          8  intentional rounds fired dropped by 46 percent. The

          9  latest available data shows that the rate of fatal

         10  shootings per thousand officers in the NYPD compares

         11  very favorably to other major city departments. Our

         12  rate is less than half the rate of the Dallas

         13  police, for example, and one quarter the rate of

         14  Miami.

         15                 We have a Police Academy class of

         16  approximately 1,250 recruits scheduled to graduate

         17  in February, and another 1,500 candidates expected

         18  to begin six months of training in March. These

         19  newly minted officers will be assigned to precincts,

         20  Transit Districts and Housing Police Service Areas

         21  to provide high visibility, high impact patrol

         22  assignments and reinforce our commitment to

         23  delivering the best possible service at the local

         24  level.

         25                 We are also committed to making the
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          2  Police Department more reflective of the communities

          3  we serve. Our most recent recruitment drive resulted

          4  in 15,000 people filing to take the entrance exam

          5  for this Department. Of this group, 67 percent were

          6  city residents, 61 percent were members of minority

          7  groups and 30 percent were women, a significant

          8  improvement in all of these categories compared to

          9  the previous applicant group.

         10                 Technology is a powerful lever we use

         11  to improve police service. We have upgraded all

         12  E-911 computers to ensure that they will function

         13  properly in the year 2000. We are also working with

         14  the Mayor's Office to prepare contingency plans for

         15  any failure of essential non-governmental services,

         16  such as power and telephone service.

         17                 We also introduced several new

         18  technology enhancements that will improve

         19  investigations and arrest processing, including a

         20  new electronic photo-imaging system that provides

         21  investigators with photos of suspects, and an

         22  electronic signature pad in Bronx precincts that

         23  allows officers and the District Attorney to

         24  complete arrest affidavits more quickly. In

         25  addition, we expanded the On-Line Complaint system
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          2  network so that all Transit and Housing commands are

          3  fully linked to the crime tracking and reporting

          4  structure.

          5                 We also installed 34 additional

          6  LIVESCAN fingerprint capture terminals. By capturing

          7  and sending fingerprints electronically, LIVESCAN

          8  has reduced the time it takes to receive criminal

          9  records from the state to 5.9 hours from 13.6 hours

         10  with standard ink fingerprints.

         11                 In Fiscal 1999, our webmasters

         12  expanded the NYPD web site on NYC LINK to

         13  approximately 2,500 pages, making it one of the

         14  largest police sites on the Internet. Our web site

         15  provides information about crime prevention, crime

         16  control strategies, and upcoming police officer

         17  examinations. Traffic on our web site has increased

         18  by 142 percent since last fiscal year, with more

         19  than 2 million page views.

         20                 In Fiscal Year 1999, we again made

         21  great strides in reducing crime, fear and disorder

         22  in this City, and in restoring New York to its

         23  proper place of prominence among world class cities.

         24                 We have truly realized a vision of

         25  New York ascendant that would not have been
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          2  imaginable ten years ago.

          3                 Thank you for your attention, and I

          4  would be happy to take any questions you may have.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

          6  much, Commissioner.

          7                 We have been joined by Councilman

          8  Phil Reed, and Mark Young, our Finance Division

          9  Analyst, I guess who is in and out, Assistant Head

         10  of the Division.

         11                 You know, your statement has a lot of

         12  substance to it, there are an awful lot of really

         13  good things the Department has achieved over the

         14  past year, of which we are all very happy.

         15  Sometimes, you know, it is important to focus more

         16  on the problem areas, understanding that areas of

         17  success are being otherwise explained. So, one area

         18  that I would like to go into is the way the Mayor's

         19  Management Report treats or doesn't treat

         20  performance measures for officer misconduct. If you

         21  look at the Mayor's Management Report, as I said,

         22  right at the beginning, Volume I, page three, it

         23  sets forth your goals and objectives. And then

         24  volume II has the indicators. There are no goals,

         25  objectives or indicators that pertain to the
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          2  anti-corruption effort, officer misconduct,

          3  provision of false testimony, or department

          4  disciplinary action.  Why not?

          5                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Again, you are

          6  asking me to comment on a document that is prepared

          7  by the Office of Operations.

          8                 If you are asking me for whether or

          9  not we have goals, objectives and strategies

         10  relative to reduction of corruption, the answer is

         11  absolutely.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Why aren't they

         13  set forth so that we can review them? You know, this

         14  is set up pursuant to the City Charter, it is like a

         15  City constitution. We do it once a year, it is the

         16  Mayor's Management Report, you know, it is good to

         17  know that you have these documents, but, you know,

         18  since this is designed to improve management, it

         19  would be helpful if they were set forth in this

         20  compendium, they don't have to be voluminous, just

         21  like the rest of the stuff this year so they can be

         22  reviewed and subject of the discussion.

         23                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Mr. Chairman, I

         24  know that you have concerns with the structure of

         25  the Mayor's Management Report. This is something
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          2  that really needs to be resolved between the Council

          3  and the Mayor's Office. If you want to talk about

          4  substantive issues relative to discipline and

          5  corruption, I am more than happy to do that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You know, I

          7  think it was Rudolph Giuliani when he was running

          8  for Mayor before 1993 who often quoted the book

          9  "Reinventing Government". I think one of the things

         10  in that book is the statement that, which others had

         11  said, is that what is measured is what is

         12  accomplished. If we don't set forth the measures

         13  here, the chances of these things being closely

         14  followed and accomplished, I submit, are less than

         15  if they are set forth in the subject of a review.

         16                 So, it is not a matter of report

         17  writing, it is a matter of presentation to the

         18  public scrutiny and to the extent to which that

         19  produces compliance. So, I think it is an important

         20  point.

         21                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: It very well may

         22  be. The difference is that what you are discussing

         23  is form and what I am here to discuss is substance.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: No, we are

         25  here to discuss the Mayor's Management Report, which
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          2  includes substance but --

          3                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Let me just state

          4  for the record, and I don't want to be argumentative

          5  on this, let me just state for the record that the

          6  form of the Mayor's Management Report is not

          7  something within my purview. So, although --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: Did you

          9  recommend to the Mayor's Office of Operations that

         10  such goals, objectives and indicators be included?

         11                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: You didn't

         13  recommend. Why did you not recommend?

         14                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: It is not purview

         15  here of this Department to structure the Mayor's

         16  Management Report, that is his report. We contribute

         17  data and substance, and I assume that the purpose of

         18  this hearing is to review our substance of

         19  accomplishments, to talk about areas --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER LEFFLER: It is not to

         21  review your substance of accomplishments, it is to

         22  review the Mayor's Management Report concerning the

         23  Police Department. It is a Charter mandate.

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Well, if that is

         25  the case then you don't need me here, you can just
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          2  have the report. If you want to talk about

          3  substance, I will be happy to do that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We do. And this

          5  is substance, and, you know --

          6                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No, form of the

          7  report is not something that I am responsible for.

          8  If you want to talk about how we reduce corruption,

          9  how we operate 911, how we arrest people, I am at

         10  your disposal.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, good.

         12                 In the Mayor's Management Report, the

         13  section with respect to the Civilian Complaint

         14  Review Board, there is a statement that 8,533 cases

         15  of misconduct complaints that went to the CCRB were

         16  forwarded to the Chief of Department. Basically

         17  complaints that the Civilian Complaint Review Board

         18  received, but they felt did not fall within their

         19  jurisdiction. There is no indication what happened

         20  with respect to such complaints. What did happen

         21  with respect to these 8,533 complaints that went to

         22  the Department's, to the people in the Department?

         23                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Chief Dunn will

         24  address that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you.
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          2                 Welcome, Chief Dunne.

          3                 CHIEF DUNNE: Good morning.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Congratulations

          5  on your relatively new position.

          6                 CHIEF DUNNE: Thank you.

          7                 Those reports are handled through my

          8  office and they are distributed to the various

          9  commands that the offending officers are, or the

         10  alleged offending officers are assigned to. They are

         11  investigated at the borough and local command level,

         12  a report is sent back to my office stating what was

         13  done with the complaint.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And we would

         15  like to know what was done with respect to this.

         16                 CHIEF DUNNE: I don't have that with

         17  me but we can provide that for you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         19                 You know, for lack of having it,

         20  these are the sorts of things that we would be

         21  interested in knowing.

         22                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Well, we would be

         23  happy to provide that for the record, and also for

         24  the record that these complaints do not meet the

         25  category of force, abuse, discourtesy or offensive
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          2  language.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

          4                 We are interested in the number of

          5  misconduct --

          6                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Or corruption.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Or corruption.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Or corruption.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes.

         10                 The number of police misconduct and

         11  brutality complaints investigated by the Department,

         12  the number of substantiated complaints and the

         13  number of officers disciplined and/or terminated,

         14  could you comment on that? Because we don't have

         15  that in a document.

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Are you talking

         17  relative to CCRB complaints?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In part, but not

         19  exclusively. We are also interested in percentage of

         20  CCRB disciplinary recommendations that you have in

         21  fact enacted.

         22                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Sure.

         23                 In Fiscal Year 1999, 54 percent, 54.8

         24  percent of complaints received substantiated from

         25  the CCRB resulted in discipline.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Fifty-four

          3  percent.

          4                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: 54.8.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And the

          6  discipline was -- why don't you explain. What was

          7  the discipline?

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We will be happy

          9  to submit that for the record, the specific

         10  discipline.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. And

         12  percentage recommendations for the filing of

         13  charges, percentage of CCRB recommendations for

         14  filing of charges that were in fact enacted by the

         15  Police Department?

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, we will be

         17  happy to --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Percentage of

         19  officers found guilty of making false statements who

         20  were terminated by the Police Department.

         21                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: One moment, I

         22  will get that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We have been

         24  joined by Council Member Walter McCaffrey, a member

         25  of the Committee, and Amy Weber, a staff member from
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          2  the Investigations, who I know contributes a lot to

          3  this area.

          4                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Okay, in 1999

          5  there were -- we have dismissed since the policy was

          6  put in place 60 police officers for false

          7  statements.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: The policy I

          9  believe was put into effect --

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: December 12th,

         11  1996.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: December 12th,

         13  1996. So, in the past three years you have dismissed

         14  60 officers.

         15                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: That is correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think I read,

         17  incidently, that in the New York Times in the last

         18  week or so that you, I believe it is you personally

         19  or the Police Department, has told the Civilian

         20  Complaint Review Board that making false official

         21  statements is a matter that is not forwarded to the

         22  purview of the CCRB; is that correct?

         23                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I believe, yes,

         24  it is correct. Because it is the opinion of our

         25  counsel, who I will have explain it to you in one
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          2  moment, that it is not within the mandate of their

          3  Charter.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Welcome, Mr.

          5  Grasso.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Good

          7  morning, Mr. Chairman.

          8                 What the Police Commissioner said is

          9  my opinion. Looking at the enabling act that created

         10  the CCRB, as you are very familiar with, obviously,

         11  in July of 19 --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We wrote the Act

         13  when I was the Chairman of the Committee. We spent

         14  about a year and a half on it.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Right.

         16  So, as you well know, the jurisdiction of the CCRB

         17  is clearly defined in that legislation with respect

         18  to their prerogatives as to official recommendations

         19  by virtue of substantiated cases to the Police

         20  Commissioner, and that is essentially it is force

         21  complaints, abuse of authority complaints,

         22  discourtesy complaints, offensive language

         23  complaints. False statements is not included in that

         24  Fado (phonetic) jurisdiction. Now, the CCRB has

         25  developed a --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Why not?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I don't

          4  believe it is.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Why is making a

          6  false --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: It

          8  doesn't call for false statement.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Why is making a

         10  false official statement not an abuse of authority?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I don't

         12  believe it is what was contemplated as an abusive of

         13  authority. I think that if this City Council had

         14  intended, if I may, that if it was the intent of the

         15  legislation, the legislation dealt specifically with

         16  statements by police officers. Again, as you recall,

         17  that was a significant issue in developing that

         18  legislation, and the legislation took pains to

         19  relate to the Department's existing 118-9 procedure

         20  as the parameters for official interrogations of

         21  police officers. I will submit that if it was the

         22  legislative intent at the time, having spent so much

         23  time drafting the legislation and dealing with false

         24  statements, that that would have been something that

         25  would have been included in the law and it would

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  have provided fair notice to the Police Department,

          3  the Police Commissioner and Police Officers being

          4  interrogated.

          5                 The law being absent on that point, I

          6  can only interpret it, and as I said, balancing all

          7  of the equities here, that the jurisdiction should

          8  be what the law reads.

          9                 Now, it is important to emphasize

         10  that when the Police Commissioner articulated our

         11  view on this to the Chair of the CCRB and other

         12  board members at a recent meeting, it was indicated

         13  that in our view to the extent that the Board

         14  members or investigators believe that they have

         15  evidence of false official statements by police

         16  officers is something that we take very seriously,

         17  and we therefore advise them, the same way we would

         18  advise District Attorneys and judges and members of

         19  the public that feel they have evidence of false

         20  statements which is to make a complaint to the

         21  Internal Affairs Bureau which would be very

         22  assertively investigated and to the extent that the

         23  Internal Affairs Bureau found a basis for

         24  substantiation, that recommendation would be made to

         25  the Police Commissioner and could become part of the
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          2  Department advocate's case. And that process I

          3  believe is protective of the right to police

          4  officers and is consistent with the spirit of the

          5  law, and if the CCRB or any other individuals --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Mr. Grasso --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Let me

          8  finish the point. -- Disagree with that, I think the

          9  remedy is to recommend an amendment to the law and

         10  not to ad hoc it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, let me say

         12  I very much believe that no one, no one put more

         13  time into the development of that law than I did.

         14                 You can right now send an officer

         15  into my community office, you have a pile of stuff,

         16  I have never put away my pile of stuff on the

         17  Civilian Complaint Review Board. It is this high

         18  (indicating), including studies I went through and

         19  everything like that, and that is not my judgment.

         20                 My judgment is that making false

         21  statements is an abuse of authority, that the law is

         22  designedly, somewhat general in a number of

         23  instances, it refers to excessive use of force, or

         24  essentially those terms, abuse of authority. These

         25  are intentionally general terms so that any number
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          2  of types of abuse of authority are within the law.

          3                 So, I do not share that view. I would

          4  be interested in the viewpoint of any other people

          5  who are involved in the legislation, but the

          6  legislation was not put together that long ago.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Why

          8  should we buy into potential ambiguity in the

          9  recommendation? You have a certain interpretation,

         10  and obviously in good faith, however, in another

         11  question we can discuss, if that was a focus at the

         12  time, it obviously would have been a great

         13  opportunity to have clearly provided for it in the

         14  section of the law that was created dealing with

         15  false official statements. And then not having done

         16  that, I can tell you on our end, we have a good

         17  faith interpretation that the law doesn't call for

         18  it --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Mr. Grasso, what

         20  you --

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: You asked

         22  your question, let me finish.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What you have to

         24  understand, Mr. Grasso, is you are interpreting our

         25  legislative intent.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I don't

          3  think you know what I understand because you keep on

          4  interrupting me. You are not letting me finish my

          5  point.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Mr. Grasso, the

          7  basic purpose of this hearing is the management of

          8  the Department.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I am

         10  trying to answer your questions but I am getting

         11  interrupted and I am not getting -- permitted to

         12  develop a major concern, which is why should the

         13  City of New York, why should the Police Department

         14  risk ultimately defective prosecutions in an area

         15  that could very well lead to the dismissal of police

         16  officers, if we have a ready, clearcut, unambiguous

         17  mechanism to investigate those allegations, a

         18  mechanism that has to date, as the Police

         19  Commissioner just testified to, resulted in 60

         20  police officers being dismissed since the

         21  enunciation of this policy. Why should we risk it?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: First of all,

         23  the ultimate point here is what is the intent of the

         24  draftsman of the legislation? So, your role, I mean

         25  it is not even your role --
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Which

          3  will be decided by a court.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right, it is

          5  ultimately --

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: It is

          7  decided by a court.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But who can

          9  better tell those of us who are here at the time

         10  what our intention was in putting in such words as

         11  abuse of authority than we ourselves?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: And as a

         13  lawyer.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Now, I don't

         15  purport to be the sole draftsman of the legislation

         16  but as I said, I don't believe anyone put in the

         17  time on this that I did.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Granted,

         19  but I don't think that is controlling in potential

         20  litigation.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is not

         22  controlling, but it is informative and one could

         23  very well question others.

         24                 You know, if the Civilian Complaint

         25  Review Board makes a recommendation with respect to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  false official statements, it doesn't preclude the

          3  Police Department, as with a lot of other things,

          4  from dealing with the matter in your own way.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I

          6  disagree with you. I think a great ambiguity is

          7  created. I think this is an area of the law where

          8  the less ambiguity is better. And furthermore, and I

          9  believe the Police Commissioner agrees with me, this

         10  is such a significant issue that we are really going

         11  to need guidance from the Law Department of the City

         12  of New York to research this issue and weigh in on

         13  it, because we need to be as confident as we

         14  possibly can in a process, in the legality of a

         15  process that could ultimately result in the

         16  dismissal of a police officer. Would you disagree

         17  with that?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think we need

         19  confidence in the process and I think the confidence

         20  in the process is strengthened by having Civilian

         21  Complaint Review Board look into this as in other

         22  possible abuses of authority.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: But that

         24  is not what we are saying.

         25                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Mr. Chairman --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: This is

          3  essentially a hearing, this is just one of --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I am

          5  trying to answer your question.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I appreciate

          7  that. I think we should move on for now.

          8                 POLICE COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Mr.

          9  Chairman, with all of the legal back and forth here,

         10  let's look at the practical effect. The practical

         11  effect is that the Board decided not to follow my

         12  suggestion, so the net effect is that nothing has

         13  changed from before, they will continue to send us

         14  recommendations where they believe false statements

         15  were made, and then somebody will challenge it and

         16  the court will make the decision.

         17                 I happen to agree with Commissioner

         18  Grasso, that when we have a perfected method to

         19  dismiss police officers for false statements, why

         20  invent a possible defective method?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think one can

         22  very well question as to whether your method of

         23  dealing with officers who make false official

         24  statements is a "perfected method".

         25                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Well, I can tell
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          2  you that 60 police officers have been dismissed.

          3  Many of them have been appealed, and prior to my

          4  tenure it was not done.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Are you

          6  aware of another City agency --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Are you

          9  aware of another agency in the City of New York,

         10  that (a) has this type of policy with respect to

         11  false official statements, and, (b) having this

         12  policy has had the type of tangible results that the

         13  Police Department has, because frankly, I am not.

         14  And you do all the MMRs.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: These are

         16  statements that are made in court under oath.

         17                 POLICE COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No, they

         18  are not.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: They are

         20  absolutely not.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: There are

         22  statements that are made, you know, to the Civilian

         23  Complaint Review Board --

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Mr. Chairman, you

         25  need to review the policy so you have it correct.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: -- To other

          3  official bodies, these are statements that should be

          4  correct.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: The

          6  overwhelming majority of our false statement cases

          7  are not cases where the lie was under oath, although

          8  our policy covers that as well. The majority of the

          9  cases deal with false official statements under

         10  Patrol Guide 118-9, which is not under oath.

         11                 I will also again point out that the

         12  CCRB official statements being modeled after 118-9

         13  are not under oath. And my question remains, since

         14  you asked the question regarding a question as I

         15  interpret it, as to just how effective the

         16  Department's policy and implementation is here, is

         17  based upon your global knowledge of the various

         18  agencies of the City of New York that you obviously

         19  have by chairing all of these MMR hearings, (a) is

         20  there any other agency in the City, which (a), has

         21  the policy that the Police Commissioner enunciated

         22  in December of '96, and (b) has carried it out with

         23  the degree of effectiveness of the Police

         24  Commissioner has carried out. Because frankly as I

         25  sit here, I don't think there is.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I don't believe,

          3  and I submit strongly, that no agency in this City

          4  has the same role as the Department with respect to

          5  the making of official statements.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Mr. Chairman,

          7  can we please move on?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes, I think we

          9  should move on.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Let's move on.

         12  But I just think the Police Department is in a

         13  different position with respect to the making of

         14  official statements.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: And I

         16  think we see that through the policies that we have

         17  and the way that we carry them out and I think

         18  objectively we deserve some credit for that, instead

         19  of just criticism all the time.

         20                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: And I also would

         21  hope, Chairman, that you would require people in

         22  other agencies to tell the truth as well.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, as I said,

         24  at the beginning of this --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Mr. Chairman,
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          2  please. Let's go on to the next subject. It is all

          3  day here. We have a lot of stuff to ask here.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: There is a long

          5  day, but as was said by everybody, it is an

          6  important issue. We try to make everybody tell the

          7  truth. If you remember, at the beginning of this

          8  term of the Council we tried to make every statement

          9  under oath here, and some objected.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Our

         11  policy proves you don't need an oath per se. Our

         12  policy is effectuated based on statements that are

         13  not under oath.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I do not agree

         15  with that.

         16                 Moving on, review of how you deal

         17  with major felony crimes. At the outset of your

         18  statement you referred to dealing with respect to

         19  homicides, and that homicides -- well, actually on

         20  page 15 is a chart with respect to the five-year

         21  trends, with respect to the seven major felony

         22  crimes, and we see that homicides went down in

         23  Fiscal Year '99 to 661 from 673 in Fiscal Year '98,

         24  but there has been an uptrend, I think you said 52,

         25  something to that effect, additional homicides over
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          2  the relevant period in calendar year 1999.

          3                 The question is, the significance of

          4  this, do you think that this indicates the reduction

          5  in homicides has bottomed out, or do you think this

          6  is indicative of what is going to happen with

          7  respect to other crimes, or you know, what do you

          8  think accounts for the increase of 52 over the year,

          9  and what significance should we attach to it?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Well, I think

         11  there are a number of issues that account for the

         12  increase, but I think I have to point out first that

         13  when you look at the per capita rate of homicides in

         14  the City, there is no major City over a million that

         15  compares with us. When you look at the fact that we

         16  have a 4.6 per capita homicide rate per 100,000 and

         17  you look at Washington, D.C., which has 23.5, or you

         18  look at Chicago which has three and a half to four

         19  times the number of homicides, the probability of

         20  being a victim of a homicide in this City is lower

         21  than just about any place, in any major city in the

         22  country.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So, it is always

         24  important to put it in perspective, and I think that

         25  does put it in perspective.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: That is very

          3  important, to put them in perspective.

          4                 That being said, I think if you look

          5  at the first half of this year, when we had about a

          6  14 percent increase in homicides, calendar year that

          7  is, and you look at the second half of this year,

          8  where we are now slightly down in the number of

          9  homicides, and this month, which we are down in

         10  number of homicides, there are a number of reasons.

         11                 One, and you can just look at

         12  February 6th, the Diallo incident, and the months

         13  that followed, we had a significant increase in

         14  homicides, as I believe police officers backed off

         15  being as assertive as they had been in the past,

         16  specifically the Street Crime Unit.

         17                 Two, we had an increase in domestic

         18  violence homicides, and when we addressed that, as I

         19  testified, we now see a decrease in domestic

         20  violence homicides. We have had a decrease in gang

         21  homicides, we are now seeing a decrease in the

         22  number of gang homicides and in the number of

         23  gang-related incidents. So, basically what we have

         24  done is we have looked at the uptick in that one

         25  category. We have adjusted our strategies, and at
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          2  this point it appears to be working, since we are

          3  now seeing a downtrend for the second half of the

          4  year.

          5                 Relative to the other crimes, all

          6  other crimes are down. We lead every major city in

          7  reduction in rapes, car thefts, burglary is down,

          8  robbery is down, assault is down. So, I do not think

          9  that this uptick at the beginning of the year, which

         10  is now turning into a down trend, is indicative of a

         11  bottoming out.

         12                 I think that worst possible case, we

         13  will end the year significantly under 700, which

         14  will be the lowest year in 36 years, the lowest year

         15  which was 37 year low was last year, so we are

         16  actually up against our own record.

         17                 I should point out that in the three

         18  and a half years that I have been Police

         19  Commissioner, there has not been a year where the

         20  homicide rate has been over 1,000, and you will have

         21  to go back ten Police Commissioners before you see a

         22  Police Commissioner who had a year under 1,000.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: If I could just

         24  ask you some questions on domestic violence, and

         25  then turn it over to members of the Committee.
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          2                 We had a hearing on this on October

          3  20th, I think it was. Looking at the MMR, the Volume

          4  II, your data. We see an increase in reports of

          5  domestic incidents from 240,000 somewhat, to 267,000

          6  in Fiscal Year '99, an increase of 11.2 percent;

          7  what does that reflect? Is it an increase in

          8  domestic violence, an increase in reporting? Both?

          9  Better documenting of incidents of domestic violence

         10  which already exist?

         11                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I think it is a

         12  reflection of our increased reporting and our

         13  increased vigilance and more domestic violence

         14  officers in the precincts.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So it is not

         16  more domestic violence?

         17                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We don't believe

         18  so, since we have seen a decrease in domestic

         19  violence homicides and a decrease in domestic

         20  violence arrests, and since we have a must arrest

         21  policy when it comes to violence, my sense is it is

         22  better reporting and I think as we saw in the Bronx

         23  and our pilot precincts and now in 15 other

         24  precincts, our domestic violence project is

         25  resulting in more home visits, which we believe is
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          2  very effective in reducing domestic violence.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: With respect to

          4  the Must Arrest Policy, if we take a look at the

          5  data on page three we see that arrests went down

          6  from, rounded off, 27,000 in Fiscal Year '98 to

          7  23,000 in Fiscal Year '99, and in fact even in

          8  Fiscal Year '97, there were 24,267, that too was

          9  more arrests than in Fiscal Year '99. Why are there

         10  fewer arrests under the must arrest policy? What is

         11  the explanation for the decrease?

         12                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Because in less

         13  visits is there violence involved, or threats. I

         14  mean that is an assessment made by the officer.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In more visits

         16  there has not been violence?

         17                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: That's correct.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In other words

         19  there have been calls, but in fact not violence,

         20  words, or something like that, that is what you have

         21  in fact found?

         22                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Sure.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. So, you

         24  don't think it is a problem with the Must Arrest

         25  Policy?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No, I don't

          3  believe so. And in fact, I think what we are seeing

          4  is, because we have put so much emphasis on domestic

          5  violence, many incidents that would not have had a

          6  domestic incidence report filed in the past are now

          7  being reported as domestic incident reports this

          8  year.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Good.

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, I believe it

         11  is.

         12                 And the other thing I think is

         13  important, which has had a positive effect, is we do

         14  a lot of follow-up on these now. Before we used to,

         15  you know, a number of years ago we used to report

         16  them and not go back.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         18                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: One of the things

         19  we work with the social agency to work with the

         20  people involved to try and resolve their issues, not

         21  just to respond to them.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You referred to

         23  the pilot precincts; how were they selected and what

         24  is your plan with respect to expanding this to

         25  additional precincts?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: They were

          3  selected based on the number of domestic incident

          4  reports, and based on the places where we had

          5  significant radio runs. And one of the things we do

          6  do is we do rank our precincts by domestic violence

          7  radio runs.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Are you going to

          9  expand this in this next fiscal year?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, it is my

         11  intention to do that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In what way?

         13                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: To expand to

         14  additional precincts based on requirements of each

         15  precinct commander and based on the data relative to

         16  domestic violence incidents reported. But I should

         17  point out that we have domestic violence officers in

         18  every precinct.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. I know.

         20                 Is the electronic monitoring system

         21  with respect to certain prior abusers going to be

         22  expanded?

         23                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: It is. We will

         24  expand the use of self homes and other devices to

         25  make sure that the potential victims have both
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          2  answering machines, caller ID, pendant alarms, and

          3  programmed 911 phones so that they can get help

          4  quickly.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And my last

          6  question in this area, there was an article in the

          7  New York Times a week ago Sunday, November 14th,

          8  with respect to, basically the headline tells the

          9  essence of the story, and that is, rising claims of

         10  wife abuse against police. And it referred to a 35

         11  percent increase in serious complaints, 14 percent

         12  increase in less serious complaints, the question

         13  that I have is, basically what is being done about

         14  this within the Department?

         15                 If I remember correctly, the major

         16  point, correct me if I am wrong, is removal of the

         17  weapon from officers who have been found to be

         18  abusive themselves; is that right?

         19                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We assess all

         20  incidents of domestic violence. We require when

         21  there is a report of domestic violence that a

         22  captain responds so that we have the appropriate

         23  supervisory level. When that happens we can either

         24  make an arrest, if there is violence involved the

         25  officer can be suspended or put on modified
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          2  assignment. In any case, until the issue is resolved

          3  his weapons are taken.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

          5                 What has been the overall experience

          6  with respect to the increased number of cases

          7  referred to there? I mean, what percentage

          8  suspended, dismissed? You know, what were the

          9  findings, and what was the punishment?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I can't give you

         11  the punishment because a lot of those are still

         12  going through --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No, I say of

         14  those that you have resolved so far. That is why I

         15  wrote to you on November 15th.

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: But i can tell

         17  you that 26 officers were arrested, 14 were

         18  suspended, and 120 modified.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Say that again,

         20  please.

         21                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Twenty-six

         22  arrested.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Fourteen

         25  suspended, 120 modified.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: On modified

          3  assignment, which means their weapons were taken?

          4                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Weapons were

          5  taken, they were involved in non-enforcement duties.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Do you consider

          7  that to be sufficient discipline?

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Well,

          9  modification is not discipline. Modification --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Or sufficient

         11  action taken.

         12                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I believe it is

         13  sufficient action. Because every police officer is

         14  entitled do charges and specifications and to a

         15  hearing, just as if you were in the court of law.

         16  Modification is not a finding of guilt. Modification

         17  means that we are going to bring charges and

         18  specifications against the officer, or we are going

         19  to determine whether to bring charges and

         20  specifications against an officer, then he is

         21  entitled to a hearing representation and a

         22  determination made before his discipline.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What is the

         24  overall outcome of most of the -- the overall

         25  outcome, quite a part from this interim outcome with
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          2  respect to most of the cases of domestic violence

          3  that you have handled, you know, which a report has

          4  increased?

          5                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: One moment, we

          6  are getting some figures here.

          7                 Okay, again, because of the way that

          8  the discipline process works, we certainly can't

          9  give you figures for every case. What I will submit

         10  for the record is what the process is in the cases

         11  that we have pending, what stage they are at. But in

         12  1998, we had five terminations for domestic

         13  violence-related incidents and four resignations.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But out of how

         15  many cases in which you have --

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Again, of the

         17  170, about 170 cases, for instance, in FY '99, all

         18  of them are at various stages of a process. So, we

         19  will be happy to submit for the record which ones

         20  are completed.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. There

         22  must be some period of time where you have resolved

         23  a substantial number of cases, though.

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, we will work

         25  it out for you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That deal with

          3  domestic violence.

          4                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Sure. I don't

          5  have it with me. I will be happy to break it out for

          6  you and submit it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

          8                 Do you periodically have sort of

          9  psychological testing or counseling with respect to

         10  people who are involved in abuse like this? In

         11  relation to the bigger issue of ongoing

         12  psychological testing, if at all?

         13                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We do not have

         14  ongoing psychological testing for police officers

         15  unless it is indicated.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is in a

         17  domestic abuse situation where somebody has been

         18  violent, indicative of underlying stress, tension,

         19  you know, some sort of psychological problem?

         20                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: It varies on the

         21  case. And you know, that is something that is

         22  determined on a case by case basis. We refer our

         23  people to our employee assistance programs, and I

         24  will tell you that I have ordered that every police

         25  officer receives training in the dangers of domestic
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          2  violence, how to respond to domestic violence, how

          3  to get help for domestic violence.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think there

          5  still is --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Isn't domestic

          7  violence next week?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Don't we have

         10  domestic violence coming up next week?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We had it about

         12  a month ago.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Okay, that's

         14  what I thought.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We had it a

         16  month ago. October 20th.

         17                 I think many people have had a sense

         18  that instances of domestic abuse are not being dealt

         19  with by this Department, by other departments, as

         20  strongly and as sensibly as could be.

         21                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Well, somebody

         22  would have to make some recommendations, or take a

         23  look at what allegedly we are not handling properly.

         24  I think we take this very seriously. As I said, we

         25  immediately respond with a captain who is a senior
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          2  supervisor to assess the situation. In all cases we

          3  modify or suspend, or if necessary, arrest the

          4  officer involved. We do an assessment. If that

          5  assessment requires a psychological assessment, we

          6  do do it. I think we take this very seriously, and I

          7  think we --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No, I am sure

          9  you take it seriously. The question is what you do.

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Well, what we do

         11  is we handle it very effectively I believe. And you

         12  are certainly not a psychologist. We rely on

         13  psychologists, we rely on people who have expertise

         14  in this discipline and we follow their advise.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, I would be

         16  interested in whatever submissions you make.

         17                 I was told there was recently a

         18  television program on this, I assume you know, with

         19  respect to the handling of domestic abuse cases,

         20  which I know at least some people were sort of

         21  surprised that with respect to the ultimate

         22  resolution or lack of resolution or the extent of

         23  resolution of these matters. And that has brought

         24  this matter I think still more to the attention of a

         25  lot of people.
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          2                 Councilman Victor Robles.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you, Mr.

          4  Chairman.

          5                 Commissioner, before I ask my

          6  questions, let me for the record ask you, and let

          7  you know, as you are aware, yesterday there was a

          8  serious tragedy in my district of which one person

          9  died and 11 people were sent to various hospitals.

         10  One, I would request that perhaps you provide my

         11  office with the men and women of the Department, who

         12  when I saw, and I was there and I saw the pictures,

         13  where it is moments like these in tragedies that I

         14  want the men and women of the New York City Police

         15  Department to know that even when we disagree in

         16  terms of certain positions, that for the most part

         17  the people of my district have nothing but the

         18  highest respect and appreciation for the kind of

         19  work they do. And I saw those police officers

         20  putting their own lives to save perhaps those 11

         21  victims. So, having said that, I know that we are

         22  having a graduation coming up pretty soon with the

         23  auxiliary police and perhaps it would be my

         24  privilege to honor those men and women who put

         25  themselves on the line so that others may live. And
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          2  I hope that you will let them know that the

          3  Williamsburg community and that North Brooklyn,

          4  despite of what people may think, were it not for

          5  the Police Department, perhaps we could not enjoy

          6  some of the things we do today. So, I just wanted to

          7  say that.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I appreciate

          9  that, Mr. Robles, because as you know I have been in

         10  your community many times and I have seen the

         11  respect and the good relationship that we have with

         12  your community.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: The Chairman

         14  touched on the domestic violence team, so let me

         15  just simply request and you can provide through the

         16  chair, perhaps where these 15 precincts happen to

         17  be, and you also mentioned that hopefully before the

         18  end of Fiscal Year 2000, you will be adding an

         19  additional nine teams, and perhaps you can also

         20  provide the Chair, so that I can get a copy of where

         21  they are going to be.

         22                 With respect to the Housing

         23  Authority, in your testimony you mentioned that 567

         24  closed-circuit television cameras are currently

         25  within housing developments. Again, perhaps out of
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          2  curiosity I would like to know where they are.

          3                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Sure.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And then you

          5  are talking about that there are going to be

          6  additional 714 new cameras scheduled within the next

          7  18 months. Again, who makes the decisions of the

          8  locations? Is that in collaboration with the Housing

          9  Authority?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: It is in

         11  collaboration with the Housing Authority and the

         12  community.

         13                 One of the things that we decided

         14  early on when we decided to put CC TV cameras in

         15  housing developments, is that we would not put them

         16  in any development where the residents did not want

         17  them. So, what we do in each case is we have a town

         18  hall meeting with the residents to ask for their

         19  permission. But we do this in conjunction with the

         20  Housing Authority.

         21                 The decisions are made based on

         22  crime. Based on the kind of crime that would be

         23  amenable to the reduction by the use of CC TV

         24  cameras.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay, and if
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          2  you can provide where these 567, and please keep in

          3  mind that when you meet with community people and

          4  they reject it, I think it would be helpful for

          5  those of us who perhaps may not be part of this

          6  forum, because I am not aware at any time any call

          7  to sit and give my personal evaluation after 15

          8  years in this Council, and as you know, I am one of

          9  the members in this Council who is very consistent

         10  when it comes to public housing development because

         11  I lived in one until recently.

         12                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Sure.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And so when

         14  they say no, I think in fairness to me, I don't know

         15  about anyone else, but in fairness to me in my

         16  district, I like to know who said no so that when I

         17  go to a meeting, and now they want to know why they

         18  got it and not them, I want to point out that the

         19  leadership and the community rejected it.

         20                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Sure.

         21                 The good news is that no one has said

         22  no.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Fine.

         24                 The other area is, as you know, I was

         25  contacted by the media when you first started this
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          2  DWI.

          3                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: And of course

          5  the allegation was that it was in communities of

          6  color that you were singling out. And of course, I

          7  am the wrong person because I have seen too many

          8  tragedies occur within my own community, and as a

          9  minority person, the wrong person to ask that

         10  question because I support it, because I have been

         11  to too many funerals because of someone drunk taking

         12  the lives of not only young people, even household,

         13  families, heads of households. But since you point

         14  out on the results, do you have a breakdown by

         15  perhaps precincts so that we could also see where

         16  these activities took place? And also when you did

         17  arrests and you took away vehicles, again that is

         18  something I would be curious to see.

         19                 And the last is this 1,250 recruits

         20  that will be coming out in the graduating class in

         21  February, I want to make sure that I understand

         22  this. All 1,200 plus will be going into precincts,

         23  whether they will be precincts, public patrol

         24  service areas or transit district; is that what I

         25  heard you say?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: That's right. The

          3  next two classes will be going to precincts, PSAs or

          4  districts.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: None of the

          6  graduates will be going to special units? Is that

          7  what I am hearing?

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: If there is,

          9  there will be a one-for-one switch. In other words,

         10  if some of those people, for whatever reason, have

         11  to go, there will be a replacement.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Okay, so once

         13  it happens, it is fair to say publicly, that

         14  whatever the number is, if we lose one we get one.

         15  So, in essence we are not losing anything?

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Right.

         17                 In other words, there will be an

         18  increase in the number of uniformed officers in the

         19  precincts.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you,

         22  Councilman Robles.

         23                 We are also joined by Council Member

         24  Tom White from Queens.

         25                 Councilman Phil Reed.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

          3  Chair.

          4                 Good morning, Commissioner, and

          5  everyone else.

          6                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Good morning.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I will start my

          8  comments by wishing everybody a happy Thanksgiving.

          9                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: To you as well.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: We did have some

         11  hearings on domestic violence just about a month ago

         12  and I wanted to commend the people who were

         13  representing the Police Department. I thought there

         14  was a very thorough discussion about it, and it

         15  seems that at least my sense of it was that the

         16  Police Department is really looking at how to

         17  approach a very difficult issue.

         18                 I know one of the things that we had

         19  talked about in terms of murder rates and crime

         20  statistics is that with domestic violence it is

         21  difficult to be proactive to that. So, I did think

         22  that your Department, at least at that hearing, was

         23  very responsive and creative in approaches, so I

         24  want to commend you on that.

         25                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I think we should
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          2  continue that. There was also some discussion about

          3  recognizing the issue of domestic violence in the

          4  gay and lesbian communities, within those

          5  partnerships and that it is often times difficult

          6  because the police still look at those in many

          7  instances, I should say and perhaps individual

          8  policemen, look at those relationships differently

          9  and don't accept the fact that there could still be

         10  the emotional involvement that causes domestic

         11  violence.

         12                 There are a couple of things that I

         13  am concerned about in this report and I am trying to

         14  streamline my questions because of the time and the

         15  day, but in this report that I am looking at from

         16  the City Council, we are talking about overtime

         17  earned, and I actually had to ask my colleague if I

         18  was really reading these numbers right. In 1999, I

         19  guess that means so far, we have spent $162 million

         20  in overtime, which is about 18 or something like

         21  that, not doing the math that fast, but anyway,

         22  million dollars, every year since 1995 we have spent

         23  more money on overtime, and every year since 1995 it

         24  seems to me we have more police, and crime is going

         25  down. So, we at least have a lot of police, let's
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          2  not argue over the numbers. We have reduction in

          3  crime and we are spending $162 million in overtime,

          4  I just don't get it.

          5                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Okay, let me

          6  explain it.

          7                 On its face that would look like a

          8  significant increase, but you have to adjust it for

          9  the additional police who existed before that were

         10  part of other agencies. So, since 1995 we have

         11  acquired the Transit Police, we have acquired the

         12  Housing Police, we have acquired the Traffic

         13  Enforcement Agents, we have acquired the School

         14  Safety officers. So, when you factor that in and you

         15  factor the rate of inflation of what it costs in

         16  additional dollars to collective bargaining

         17  increases, that each of these agencies and each of

         18  these entities get, when you adjust that for

         19  inflation, the actual dollars is $120 million, not

         20  $168 million when adjusted for inflation, and that

         21  is lower than 1990.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: When was the

         23  last time the police got a salary increase?

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Last year. This

         25  year actually.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            69

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Just this year.

          3                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Last three years.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Incrementally

          5  over the last three years; is that what you are

          6  saying?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: So it is $120

          9  million.

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Adjusted for

         11  inflation, when you adjust the additional people.

         12  Because the Transit cop who was earning overtime in

         13  the subway when he was a Transit cop didn't stop

         14  earning overtime. That money now moves over to the

         15  budget of the NYPD.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I guess the

         17  issue I am concerned with is really more the

         18  management of this volume of police that we have

         19  that we are perhaps rightfully so patting ourselves

         20  on the back in the reduction of crime. So, what is

         21  the management doing if every year after year we

         22  have an increase in the overtime.

         23                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I just explained

         24  it to you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Maybe what the
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          2  next thing I would ask then, if we are trying to

          3  make sure we understand the numbers, and please

          4  don't misunderstand when I say it is an easy dodge

          5  to tell me this is because they have got a salary

          6  increase and we have more police officers, so let's

          7  look at the hours that are involved. Perhaps instead

          8  of the dollars, let's look at the hours and then we

          9  won't be worried about inflation. And I am still

         10  concerned about what is the management that we are

         11  doing within the Police Department to reduce that

         12  number.

         13                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We control

         14  overtime very tightly in the Police Department. But,

         15  again, you can't just dismiss what I just said,

         16  because the fact is, if you have 3,500 Transit cops

         17  earning overtime and that budget is part of the

         18  Metropolitan Transit Authority, okay? When you move

         19  those cops over to the NYPD, our overtime budget

         20  increases because they are still earning overtime.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That was in

         22  1995, though. I mean the increase from '99 over '98

         23  was 162 and a half million as against 145.9 million,

         24  basically an increase of 16 million and 145 million

         25  is like --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: And what you are

          3  ignoring, Chairman, is the acquisition of school

          4  safety agents, what you are ignoring is the

          5  collective bargaining increase.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Something like

          7  three and a half percent.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: And if you factor

          9  those numbers in, that accounts for the increase.

         10                 And I have the chart, which I will be

         11  happy to provide you, which lays it all out in

         12  Chapter and verse. And you as well, Mr. Reed.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: All of that was

         15  school safety increase?

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No, no, no. I

         17  just ticked off a whole group of what it was and

         18  then --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: The increase in

         20  salary is something like, it was less than four

         21  percent.

         22                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: The collective

         23  bargaining increase was 4.5 million. The expanded

         24  narcotics initiative was 8 million. The increase in

         25  on-line arrests, and you have no choice in on-line
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          2  arrests, you have to be there, okay? The increase in

          3  on-line arrests was 4 million. The merger of school

          4  safety personnel was 5.5 million. The utilization of

          5  traffic agents and special events was 2 million. Y2K

          6  preparation was 2 million. So, you know, we have

          7  delineated, which I will be happy to submit for the

          8  record, every reason for every increase. And I

          9  believe there are legitimate increases, and again,

         10  when you adjust all of this for inflation and the

         11  legitimate increases, we are actually spending less

         12  overtime than we did in 1990.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: The last

         14  question on that subject: What is the budget? Do you

         15  have a budget for overtime?

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Commissioner

         17  Wuensch will respond to that.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WUENSCH: You are

         19  talking about Fiscal Year 1999 at the current time,

         20  so that the actual budget ends up being reflective

         21  of what the City Council provided through the

         22  various MNs, through the January financial plan, and

         23  through the executive budget.

         24                 If you look at the end of the year,

         25  we have had budgeted and spent $168 million, that is
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          2  the total.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You have spent

          4  just the exact amount that we have budgeted for

          5  overtime; is that what you are trying to tell me?

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WUENSCH: By the

          7  end of the year --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I understand

          9  that, you will be right on budget.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WUENSCH: Through

         11  the November Financial Plan, through the January

         12  Financial Plan, and through the Executive Budget

         13  reflects the decisions that are made, and the cost.

         14  Four things like the Commissioner pointed out, four

         15  things like collective bargaining.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Let's not rehash

         17  them, we heard them.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WUENSCH: Okay.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: The other

         20  statistic that we have here that seems when we are

         21  talking about reduction in crime, you have the NYPD

         22  average response to crime in progress calls, and in

         23  both the two categories that you have here,

         24  essentially critical and non-critical, the response

         25  time is going up; could you explain that for us?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, as I have

          3  stated in this forum many times, response time is,

          4  in my view, and in many police executives' views and

          5  many criminologists' views, one indicator of

          6  success, not the only indicator of success. The

          7  primary indicator of success is crime reduction.

          8                 We have probably an increase in

          9  overall response time because of the number of

         10  non-critical calls that we are responding to, and

         11  the fact that we are increasing the length of

         12  service that we provide at each call.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But actually the

         14  other non-critical categories have also gone up. If

         15  you take a look on page five of volume II --

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, it is

         17  because of the nature of the calls. And the fact is

         18  that some of this is the factor of people not

         19  responding upon arrival, in other words, taking

         20  action, rather than actually --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Is there really

         22  any reason to think that has increased as against

         23  fiscal year '98? I mean, people not punching in

         24  exactly on arrival time, we are dealing with

         25  hundreds of thousands of responses a year, so it

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            75

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  seems to me that would probably factor out.

          3                 In other words, my sense is that, you

          4  know, your own statistics on page five of volume II

          5  show there is an increase in response time for

          6  critical calls and serious calls, apart from the

          7  non-critical.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: And our response

          9  time to critical calls is well within the acceptable

         10  range of any large city in the country. And again,

         11  although I know at every one of these hearings we go

         12  through this on a regular basis, response time is

         13  one measure of success, and certainly not the most

         14  important measure of success.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I would think,

         16  and I am not sure because I haven't been on this

         17  Committee that long, but you say we go through this

         18  every year, I think that one of the reasons that we

         19  go through this every year is that every year the

         20  response time goes up. At some point it becomes

         21  critical. I mean, it may not be the only criteria.

         22                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Well, it becomes

         23  critical --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You are in

         25  trouble and you have an emergency, that is what
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          2  people are seeing, and we know that seconds seem

          3  like hours to people.

          4                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Every year crime

          5  has gone down while response time has increased

          6  because one of the philosophies of this Police

          7  Department is to be proactive in preventing crime,

          8  not responding to crime.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I mean, when we

         10  have released the statistics ourselves, which we do,

         11  of response times to crimes in progress, Mayor

         12  Giuliani has said as an objective that response time

         13  should be reduced. This was a couple of years ago,

         14  and in the last two years response times in these

         15  categories, the critical and the serious, each of

         16  the last two years have gone up despite --

         17                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Let's talk

         18  specifically what we are talking about. We are

         19  talking about two-tenths of a second.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That is with

         21  respect to critical, and with respect to serious it

         22  is four-tenths. We are talking here the average for

         23  hundreds of thousands of responses.

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Right. And many

         25  of those hundreds, most of those hundreds of
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          2  thousands of responses are responses that require a

          3  response but the four seconds do not make a

          4  significant difference.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: In critical and

          6  serious?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Again, we are

          8  talking about two-tenths of a second.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And four-tenths

         10  with respect to serious.

         11                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I would like

         12  Commissioner Casey to respond to this. She handles

         13  the category.

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER CASEY: I am

         15  Maureen Casey, Deputy Commissioner of Policy and

         16  Planning.

         17                 With respect to the response times,

         18  it is one of the issues that the Department does

         19  take very seriously, and as the Commissioner just

         20  indicated, my shop is responsible for monitoring

         21  that. Those numbers are provided to the Chief of

         22  Department's Office on a monthly basis. It is part

         23  of our CompStat process. It is something that we are

         24  looking at constantly and reassessing what the

         25  reasons may or may not be.
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          2                 One thing I would also point out in

          3  addition to the change in composition of the

          4  response time, we also have an increase in radio

          5  runs, and as the Police Commissioner mentioned, we

          6  are requiring our offices to do more once they

          7  respond to the scenes. They are doing more

          8  canvasses, more initial investigations, they are

          9  completing domestic incident reports when there are

         10  domestic violence calls. So there is a series of

         11  issues that go into this, more than just looking at

         12  one or two seconds.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Is it the policy

         14  of the Department to in fact reduce response time?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Reducing response

         16  time is one goal.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: One of the

         18  goals.

         19                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What are you

         21  doing to address this problem in a way which would

         22  give confidence that response time will be less this

         23  year than it was last year?

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We are making

         25  sure that all of our training involves making sure
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          2  that people go 1084, which is their acknowledgment

          3  of arrival. As soon as they arrive, we are looking

          4  at the deployment of our sectors and we are working

          5  with every precinct to improve response time.

          6                 But, again, I will tell you that if I

          7  have to choose between crime prevention, which

          8  prevents people from having to be responded to, and

          9  response time, response time will come second.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: If I could ask

         11  the last question that I have about a different

         12  subject?

         13                 The homeless, the new homeless

         14  policy, you have been talking about being proactive

         15  in training, have the police had any training about

         16  how to approach this new, what I consider rather

         17  reckless policy of arresting the homeless if they

         18  don't want to go in for services? What is the

         19  criteria for not wanting services?

         20                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, we have

         21  issued to every officer an operational enforcement

         22  guide, which I will be happy to supply to the

         23  Committee, which addresses this issue, and I need to

         24  point out that the majority, the vast majority of

         25  our homeless contacts do not result in arrests.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: When was that

          3  issued to the cops.

          4                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: This week.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: This week?

          6                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: The same day

          8  that we put the policy in place?

          9                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No, before. The

         10  issue is --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: It couldn't have

         12  been that much before.

         13                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: This works --

         15                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Let me finish.

         16                 This document existed, it has been

         17  updated to deal with the current situation. This is

         18  not a document that did not exist before.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: And what was the

         20  change in the current situation that now made us

         21  change the policy to arbitrarily arrest people?

         22                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: One second. Let's

         23  back up here. Nobody is arbitrarily arresting

         24  anybody, okay?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That would be
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          2  illegal.

          3                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: What is that?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That would be

          5  illegal.

          6                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, it would be

          7  illegal.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Then let's take

          9  that word off the table and tell me what is the

         10  criteria --

         11                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I will be happy

         12  to.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I am reading in

         14  the newspaper, and maybe your suggesting it is

         15  different. This is a policy that you have just given

         16  back out to the police on the streets, so obviously

         17  there are some new initiatives in this.

         18                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Let me answer the

         19  question, Mr. Reed.

         20                 Again, as I have told the Chairman

         21  often, the policy of our Department is not guided by

         22  newspapers or television shows. What we do legally

         23  is guided by the Law Department, and one of the

         24  things that Commissioner Grasso and the Corporation

         25  Counsel did prior to our establishing this policy
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          2  was do extensive research into the law and came up

          3  with legal guidance for our officers when they can

          4  and cannot make arrests of homeless individuals,

          5  okay?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We look forward

          7  to getting that and reviewing it.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Maybe George, you

          9  would like to address the specific law?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Again,

         11  just to provide -- what we have here is a global

         12  overview. We wanted our police officers to be

         13  familiar with, you know a variety of situations

         14  based upon our experience in dealing with homeless

         15  individuals where there may be violations of law.

         16                 So, the enforcement guide includes

         17  everything from various laws involving panhandling,

         18  public places, streets, roadways, ATMs, aggressive

         19  panhandling.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: What does that

         21  mean streets, roadways? I mean --

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Well,

         23  various laws that would be applicable.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I think the

         25  question that I asked, Mr. Chair, and Commissioner
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          2  Grasso is, what is the change? And I know my

          3  colleague, Council Member McCaffrey, has some

          4  questions about this, so I will defer the rest of my

          5  questions to him, but what is the change? There ha

          6  been a change in policy, maybe you are not guided by

          7  the press, but the press just didn't make this up

          8  out of whole cloth. So, there has been a change in

          9  policy in the last week, and you have given the

         10  police on the street the same day essentially that

         11  the policy has changed some guidelines. So, what is

         12  the change? And is the criteria, the new criteria

         13  that they are supposed to use for arresting the

         14  homeless?

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I don't

         16  know if I am the best person to discuss the policy

         17  in total, but I want to address specifically the

         18  last thing that you said. The new criteria for --

         19  there is not a new criteria. We are dealing with

         20  existing laws. And as the Police Commissioner said,

         21  the compendium that we developed was updated but it

         22  was based upon previous efforts that the legal

         23  bureau had undertaken in the quality of life area,

         24  and we have a panoply of laws ranging from

         25  disorderly conduct, harassment, park regulations,
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          2  transit regulations, and we thought that it would be

          3  useful to have that available at the fingertips of

          4  police officers in enforcement situations.

          5                 But the overall thrust here is not to

          6  go out and arrest people, but to engage people who

          7  may very well be crying out for help in need for

          8  shelter, in need for some sort of medical services,

          9  be it physical or psychological, and maybe evincing

         10  that need by sleeping in the middle of the street.

         11  That is the overall emphasis, and so far the

         12  knowledge that I had this morning, we have a very

         13  significant number of individuals who I think just

         14  last night that took up our offer to obtain shelter.

         15  I think it was 45.

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Let me just

         17  expand on this so that we can give you some sense of

         18  what the world looks like.

         19                 Last year we had 21,113 contacts with

         20  homeless people where our police officers approached

         21  homeless individuals to offer assistance. And I want

         22  you to understand that our direction to our police

         23  officers is not to go out and arrest people who are

         24  sleeping on the street, our direction is to go out

         25  and offer them shelter if they need shelter, offer
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          2  them medical care if they need medical care, and

          3  that is our first thrust in every one of the

          4  situations.

          5                 Of the 21,113 that we had contact

          6  with last year, 242 were arrested. So we are talking

          7  about one percent of the people that we had contact

          8  with in the homeless area.

          9                 Last night, with a much more renewed

         10  emphasis, and, again, this is a renewed emphasis, we

         11  had 310 contacts last night, two people went to the

         12  hospital, 49 people went to shelters, 61 were given

         13  summonses because they were involved in a

         14  summonsable offense, and 47 were arrested. And I

         15  should point out that of the 47 arrested last night,

         16  five were arrested for felonies, 29 for

         17  misdemeanors, 13 for violations, and nine were

         18  wanted on outstanding warrants. But the whole idea

         19  of this is to follow the philosophy which the Mayor

         20  has stated very clearly, which it is his belief that

         21  people do not have a right to sleep on the streets

         22  of the City and that they are generally crying out

         23  for help and our focus is to go out and help them.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you,

         25  Commissioner. Mr. Chair.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            86

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You stated a

          3  couple of minutes ago in response to Mr. Reed,

          4  though, that you don't act in response to news

          5  stories, you act in response to the law. But Mr.

          6  Grasso went over the instances, it seemed to me what

          7  you were saying is that the law really hasn't

          8  changed here. You are basically reaffirming existing

          9  instances; is that right?

         10                 You might have moved somebody or even

         11  arrested somebody a month ago, a year ago and you

         12  are doing it now, but you are giving it increased

         13  attention; is that right?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Exactly.

         15  We are working with existing law.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But isn't the

         17  reason why there is this increased emphasis, a news

         18  story, and that is Nicole Barrett who was hit in the

         19  head by supposedly a homeless person? So, wasn't it

         20  basically in response to a news story?

         21                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No, I don't

         22  believe it was.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You were going

         24  to do this in any case. If she had not been hit, you

         25  were going --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER LEFFLER: Nicole Barrett

          3  was not a news story. Nicole Barrett is a human

          4  being who was attacked, and we don't know if Nicole

          5  Barrett was attacked by a homeless person, as I have

          6  said a number of times.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You are saying

          8  the reason for the increased effort to reaffirm the

          9  policy of offering assistance and arresting or

         10  moving or addressing homelessness, was not a

         11  response to Nicole Barrett being hit by the paving

         12  stone?

         13                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: It very well may

         14  be but not to the news story, to the human being who

         15  was attacked.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Oh, so that is

         17  the difference.

         18                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: That is a

         19  significant difference.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No, I think it

         21  is. It was in response to that.

         22                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Partially.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Partially.

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: The fact is that

         25  in a city in which there are millions of different
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          2  events, when certain events, and different problems,

          3  when certain events emphasize those problems, we

          4  assess it and we respond to them.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I am all in

          6  favor of giving assistance to people. No one wants

          7  people to be sleeping on the street, they shouldn't

          8  be sleeping, and the specific instances that Mr.

          9  Grasso referred to, regulations dealing with Transit

         10  with respect to parks, with respect to blocking, and

         11  no one can literally sleep in the street, I mean

         12  that would be dangerous for all concerned. What is

         13  the foundation for, the legal basis for arresting

         14  somebody who is sleeping on the sidewalk in the

         15  corner and not obstructing passage?

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I will ask my

         17  lawyer to respond to that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: We

         20  believe the legal basis is found in the penal law in

         21  the disorderly conduct statute which specifically

         22  provides that persons who with intent to cause

         23  public inconvenience, annoyance or alarm, or

         24  recklessly create a risk thereof, obstruct vehicular

         25  or pedestrian traffic, and that is a violation and
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          2  found in Penal Law Section 240-25.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And you think

          4  somebody --

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO subsection

          6  5.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Somebody who

          8  just falls, goes to sleep in a corner next to a

          9  building is recklessly impeding traffic?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Well, it

         11  doesn't say recklessly impeding, it says recklessly

         12  creating a risk thereof. And we think that that is

         13  on its face recklessly creating a risk thereof,

         14  based upon the simple premise that sidewalks are

         15  designed for pedestrians, for pedestrians to walk

         16  on, not for individuals to decide to sleep on. That

         17  is our view and it is also the view of Mike Hess in

         18  the Law Department of the City of New York.

         19                 Now, that being said, we need to be

         20  very clear about the thrust of our enforcement here,

         21  not only with respect to this law, but with respect

         22  to the entire use of the law that we are visualizing

         23  on this policy.

         24                 The plan isn't to run out, see

         25  someone sleeping and make an immediate arrest. What
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          2  we intend to do is initially see that as a situation

          3  where that person may be sleeping unconscious, who

          4  knows, unresponsive, on a public sidewalk, maybe

          5  needing help. So, that is the primary goal of the

          6  police officer responding - does this individual

          7  need help? Does this individual need some sort of

          8  hospitalized services? Does this individual need

          9  some form of shelter? Is there something going on

         10  with this person that we can assist the person with.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We got that

         12  point.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: So,

         14  establishing that first, once we awaken the

         15  individual and try and talk with the individual,

         16  that is the first thing we attempt to do. To the

         17  extent we perceive a need for help, that is what we

         18  implement. We don't go to an arrest, we help the

         19  person. We don't got to a summons, we help the

         20  person.

         21                 Only if after making every reasonable

         22  effort to find out if there was help needed and then

         23  help was not needed or being rejected, then the

         24  police officer would request of this individual

         25  gather his or her belongings and move on.
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          2                 If the individual exceeds to that

          3  reasonable, lawful request for the police officer,

          4  that individual, all other things being equal, will

          5  not be arrested, will not be given a summons. It is

          6  only when, after all of those steps were taken, the

          7  person were to turn around and say I am leaving, I

          8  am laying right back down here, I am going right

          9  back to sleep, and I don't care that I may be

         10  obstructing people, I may be obstructing law abiding

         11  individuals the ability to use this sidewalk, well,

         12  I choose to sleep on it - only under those

         13  circumstances would the summons be written, assuming

         14  the person had proper identification.

         15                 If the person didn't have proper

         16  identification, then it would have to go into an

         17  arrest. That is the scenario.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Mr. Grasso, I am

         19  a lawyer and I would really like to see the legal

         20  authority for arresting somebody who was simply

         21  sleeping against the building.

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I don't

         23  think there is a lot of case law in this particular

         24  area, but it is our interpretation, it is the Police

         25  Department's interpretation of this statute and it
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          2  is the Law Department's interpretation of this

          3  statute.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You know, one

          5  can take a position on matters, there is quite a

          6  difference between sleeping in the middle of a

          7  sidewalk and sleeping against the building.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Chairman, if I

          9  may? The legal basis for this will ultimately be

         10  decided by a court.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. But you

         12  have to have a legal basis for taking police action.

         13                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I think the

         14  responsible thing for us to do is, we are guided in

         15  lawful matters by the Corporation Counsel of the

         16  City of New York.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So, I am asking

         18  for a copy of the memorandum to see the legal basis

         19  for arresting somebody who is sleeping.

         20                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: You have to

         21  request that from him.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You haven't even

         23  sought to review the legal basis?

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No. My lawyer has

         25  reviewed it with the Corporation Counsel
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          2  extensively. But the point is if you want the

          3  Corporation Counsel's legal opinion, you have to get

          4  it from him, not from us.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And you haven't

          6  bothered to get it then, I take it?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: No, no,

          8  we have gotten his opinion. His opinion is

          9  consistent with what I described.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I heard it,

         11  okay.

         12                 Council Member McCaffrey.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY:

         14  Commissioner, here is one of the sources for our

         15  question and concern. As I heard you, you said last

         16  year, 365 days, 242 individuals were arrested. Last

         17  night you said 47 individuals were arrested?

         18                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Correct.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: So, in one

         20  day whereas the previous average in the year before

         21  was less than one arrest a day, in one day we now

         22  have 47 arrests. Which now leads us to the broader

         23  question of what has triggered that action

         24  specifically. And the tragedy in terms of Ms.

         25  Barrett is certainly, if that is the cause then let
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          2  us be very candid and say that is what the reaction

          3  is.

          4                 I understand the Law Department has

          5  given guidance to the Department, you are following

          6  their action, someone gave the Law Department

          7  marching orders in this one too. So, let's be

          8  candid. Let's say that is what this is in reaction

          9  to.

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: There is no

         11  secret here. The Mayor has stated publicly a number

         12  of times that it is his view that people do not have

         13  the right to sleep on the streets of the City. I am

         14  sure he was part then, I know I specifically asked

         15  the Law Department for guidance on this to make sure

         16  that we were following the law.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But the

         18  implementation of the law in the current manner is

         19  triggered by this tragedy?

         20                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I think this

         21  tragedy certainly heightened all of our attention

         22  and interest in this. But I will tell you that for

         23  the last four months I have directed my Department

         24  to do regular homeless surveys throughout this City,

         25  and what we had seen over the last few months is an
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          2  increase in the number of individual, homeless

          3  individuals on our streets.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But is the

          5  difference being from the survey to the stage of

          6  arrest is a considerably different one.

          7                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Again, arrest

          8  when there is refusal or, as I pointed out, the nine

          9  warrants that we cleared last night.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: During the

         11  last four months you did not have that type of

         12  arrest number.

         13                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We have on a

         14  regular basis at CompStat and Chief Dunne does this

         15  with every precinct, emphasize the need to deal with

         16  the homeless in each of our precincts.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: But the

         18  issue is, as refining the point, is we are talking

         19  about the arrest aspect, and it is that the arrest

         20  aspect is what is dramatically picked up in light of

         21  following the tragedy.

         22                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: That is correct.

         23  The difference is very clearly that if an

         24  individual, after all of the assistance has been

         25  offered, refuses to comply, it is the opinion of the
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          2  Law Department, which is a reaffirmation of existing

          3  law, as I am told, that they can be arrested.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY:

          5  Commissioner, it is not an appropriate answer to

          6  hear the Mayor has said that it is his belief that

          7  the Department should make arrests. I mean, if that

          8  is the case --

          9                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: As a last resort,

         10  and, you know, I can tell you he has articulated it

         11  to me personally that it is his view that the number

         12  one process here should be help.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Okay,

         14  understood.

         15                 Let us move on to a couple of other

         16  areas.

         17                 One of the issues --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Could I just

         19  comment on that?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Sure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You know, in

         22  City government lip service is paid to an awful lot

         23  of things. I think it is really questionable as to

         24  what the Administration is really trying to do here

         25  is to help homeless people. We have seen the
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          2  homeless policy over a long period of time.

          3                 I don't see somebody who is in the

          4  middle of the night and goes to sleep against a

          5  building being intentionally obstructing pedestrian

          6  traffic, recklessly obstructing pedestrian traffic.

          7  I am not at all convinced that the Police Department

          8  some day would win such a suit. I am not at all

          9  convinced.

         10                 Right now I don't see a legal basis

         11  for it. I am willing to consider a legal basis for

         12  it, I think this may be another instance where the

         13  Administration's action is this is popular, and by

         14  the time this is litigated term limits will have run

         15  and we will no longer be called to account.

         16                 I don't see the legal basis for

         17  arresting 47 people for going to sleep adjacent to a

         18  building where they are not impeding the --

         19                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Well, you ignored

         20  the fact that there were a number of felonies

         21  committed which was not sleeping against the

         22  building.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: All of those

         24  instances, Commissioner, no one wants to enforce the

         25  law respectfully more than me.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Chairman, you are

          3  the same chairman who said that the DWI policy was

          4  illegal as well, and it has been affirmed by the

          5  Appellate Division.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I never said the

          7  DWI policy was illegal.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: And tried to

          9  change it, which I believe would have caused great

         10  harm to the citizens of the City.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We will have an

         12  oversight hearing with respect to DWI. There are

         13  questions raised as to its fairness.

         14                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Right, 80 percent

         15  of the people involved in DWI fatalities in this

         16  country are first-time offenders.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We will get to

         18  DWI in a little while. The question here is --

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: I have to

         20  jump in on a misstatement of facts.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER:-- The legal

         22  authority for arresting somebody sleeping against

         23  building.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: There was

         25  a misstatement of facts. There was an assumption
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          2  made that the 47 arrests that the Department

          3  reported was made on the last tour were all for, as

          4  you put it, people sleeping next to buildings.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

          6                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: You know,

          7  that is clearly not the case.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We understand --

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: But you

         10  don't understand that because that isn't what you

         11  say. And it is important that we mean what we say.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: That the

         14  five felonies and 29 misdemeanors, 34 arrests, that

         15  tells me on the face of it that it was not the

         16  scenario that you were talking about. We are talking

         17  about would ultimately be a violation, we need to

         18  have our facts right if we are going to discuss this

         19  appropriate.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: There is no

         21  question, George, five felonies and 29 misdemeanors

         22  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Mr. Chairman?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER:-- Are grounds

         25  for arresting--
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: And nine

          3  warrants.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Mr. Chairman,

          5  if I may for a second?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Council Member,

          7  we will call on you in a minute.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: This goes on

          9  every year. This is November, the Police Department

         10  does this every year before the holidays. It is much

         11  colder now usually, they go out and they help the

         12  homeless so they don't freeze to death so we don't

         13  have this in the newspapers. This goes on every

         14  single year.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: If you think

         16  what is going on now --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: To leave

         18  people sleeping in the streets, that is not

         19  compassionate, Mr. Chairman, and I think this is a

         20  compassionate approach and I think we should move on

         21  to the next issue.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: If you consider

         23  this to be what goes on every year, that is your

         24  opinion, that is not my opinion, and you know it is

         25  appropriate to question, and we will call on you in
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          2  a minute. There is no doubt that to the extent

          3  somebody commits a felony, commits a misdemeanor,

          4  there is reason to arrest the person. To the extent

          5  that there isn't that sort of conduct, and there are

          6  apparently a number of instances where there are

          7  arrests where there that is not, then there is a

          8  question.

          9                 Council Member McCaffrey, you were in

         10  the middle of questioning. Do you want to move on?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I was in

         12  the middle of questioning.

         13                 So, you know, the broad issue here

         14  is, is this is a policy that you are only a small

         15  player in -- well, not a small player, but you are a

         16  player in and you are not setting the policy. We

         17  understand that ultimately is attributable to the

         18  Mayor.

         19                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: But I will tell

         20  you I support the policy.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I

         22  understand that, and the merits or lack thereof are

         23  to be debated in another arena and we understand you

         24  are enforcing this albeit in an enhanced fashion

         25  after the tragedy of Ms. Barrett.
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          2                 Let us now move on to a couple of

          3  other areas, less perhaps sensational, but more

          4  important in the way for the Department to run.

          5                 Commissioner, you are absolutely

          6  right, each year we do go to this discussion in

          7  terms of response time, but the question is here

          8  that the public, they are the ones with the PhDs in

          9  crime, not criminology, crime. You got someone in

         10  your house and they have got a gun to your head or

         11  they are threatening your family or you are a store

         12  owner or something of that nature, you are the PhD,

         13  you are the judge, not you, not me, they are the

         14  judge, and there has to be some action here that is

         15  going to begin to decrease what the response time is

         16  in those incidents.

         17                 Now, I understand a two-second

         18  increase over a year, but now we have gone from 5.7

         19  seconds to 6.3, the trend is only up, it is not

         20  down. So, the question is, what are the definitive

         21  steps that are going to be taken, understanding that

         22  this is one factor? But in this case, what is going

         23  to be addressed in this one factor to reduce this?

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: The factor that

         25  will hopefully impact on this, again, and I must
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          2  point out that although you are correct, if that

          3  were the instance where somebody was waiting those

          4  two seconds, and that was the critical incident,

          5  that certainly is important and serious. But I would

          6  also point out that there are now 61 percent less

          7  people subject to shootings than there were five

          8  years ago, and all of that is part of this factor.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: What are we

         10  going to do about reducing this?

         11                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I think one of

         12  the things what we are going to do is by, one,

         13  increasing the number of RMPs that we have out on

         14  the street, which we plan to do this year.

         15  Increasing the number of police officers in

         16  precincts and by very clearly training them on how

         17  to 1084 when they --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Is one of

         19  the reasons that there aren't as many responses out

         20  there in terms of the vehicle availability? Because

         21  motor transport isn't keeping up? You need

         22  additional resources --

         23                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Interestingly

         24  enough, that is not the case.

         25                 One of the things I do do as part of
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          2  monitoring this is monitoring down time of our

          3  vehicles, and that has gone down, not up.

          4                 One of the other things I have done

          5  is I have asked the First Deputy Commissioner to do

          6  regular evaluation of tours in the precinct, to see

          7  -- which is one of the next issues we have to

          8  address, which is excusal time. Because one of the

          9  things we have found in some of the precincts where

         10  response time has gone up is there is an inordinate

         11  amount of excusals of police officers per tour. So,

         12  we look at some of the tours where they are --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Excusal

         14  times where they leave their precinct to go to other

         15  assignments?

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No, no.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: I am asking

         18  that facetiously.

         19                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: This is days off

         20  which are not regularly scheduled personal days,

         21  lost time, those kind of things, and those

         22  significantly impact on response time.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: On the

         24  issue in terms of the officers who have been put on

         25  modified assignment, as it applies to the spousal
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          2  abuse case, the question is there, how are we giving

          3  them the assistance? And what is the assistance? Is

          4  it limited solely to site services?

          5                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No, we are

          6  referring them to lots of programs, including the

          7  program that you are involved in, Employee

          8  Assistance, the MAP program, and it has been very

          9  effective.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Three other

         11  very quick areas. One is, one of the items that many

         12  of us are concerned about that we are seeing

         13  anecdotally, and I don't think there is any measure

         14  out there that the Department has, is the issue of

         15  road rage in the City of New York and efforts

         16  underway to deal with that. Is there any initiative

         17  that --

         18                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, we have an

         19  aggressive driving initiative, I will let Chief

         20  Dunne explain it, since it is his initiative.

         21                 CHIEF DUNNE: We have armed some of

         22  our highway cars with, unmarked highway cars with

         23  cameras that can view images both front and back,

         24  and we target aggressive drivers using this type of

         25  tactic. We think it is going to be successful and we
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          2  will be able to be very proactive in this area

          3  rather than reactive.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: And Chief,

          5  will that just be confined to the arterial highways?

          6                 CHIEF DUNNE: It will be first because

          7  that is the most danger for aggressive driving.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: We have

          9  arteries in the City and in our own borough, in

         10  Queens, Queens Boulevard, I mean those are --

         11                 CHIEF DUNNE: Those roads that are

         12  normally policed by highway patrol, such as Queens

         13  Boulevard, Eastern Parkway and the larger boulevards

         14  will also be subject.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: Because

         16  that is where we are seeing fatalities in a larger

         17  number as a result of road rage, in many cases,

         18  anecdotally.

         19                 The other question in terms of

         20  civilianization. Commissioner, we were given the

         21  assurance by you that those additional civilians

         22  that came onto the Department's rolls are going to

         23  be assigned to precincts and to free up officers.

         24  But I don't see really what the status is in terms

         25  of that.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I have it. I w

          3  ill give it to you in a second.

          4                 I will ask Chief Markman, Chief of

          5  Personnel, to address that.

          6                 CHIEF MARKMAN: Good morning. The

          7  issue we had was to assign 500 civilians, hire 500

          8  new civilians to replace 500 officers that were

          9  assigned to administrative duties, clerical duties.

         10  Some of those officers were assigned in precincts

         11  and some were administrative commands, but in any

         12  event, I think there was 480 civilians that had been

         13  detailed already, hired by the agency and trained,

         14  and replaced the officers. Those officers that are

         15  in command, in precincts commands and PSAs and also

         16  transit districts have been assigned to enforcement

         17  duties. Those officers that were doing

         18  administrative duties and clerical duties in

         19  administrative capacity, like for instance in One PP

         20  they were replaced by civilians and those officers

         21  are then transferred to enforcement duties in other

         22  commands such as precincts. So, we probably have

         23  another 20 civilians of the 500 civilians to be

         24  hired and trained, but those are very difficult

         25  positions to hire and we are looking to maybe change
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          2  that mix from the more difficult positions to hire

          3  to more easily, some sort of entry level positions.

          4  But in any case, within a month's time all 500

          5  positions will be hired on board, and that means

          6  that they will replace 500 officers that were

          7  previously doing administrative clerical duties, and

          8  they will all be assigned to enforcement duties.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: In terms of

         10  traffic control --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Can I just ask a

         12  question on the civilianization point?

         13                 CHIEF MARKMAN: Yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Mr. Markman,

         15  Commissioner Safir, and welcome, Mr. Markman. It is

         16  good to see you, always.

         17                 Last spring, this past spring of '99

         18  when we worked on the budget, we specifically asked

         19  you with respect to civilianizable positions beyond

         20  the 500 that we budgeted for with federal funds I

         21  think it is, and you were going to give us the list

         22  of civilianizable positions. We have never gotten

         23  that list; in other words, that additional

         24  possibilities of civilianization in the Department,

         25  why have we not gotten it?
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          2                 CHIEF MARKMAN: If you want the list,

          3  I can have the list for you by Friday. We can do

          4  another 500. If we have the funds we can do 500

          5  civilians in positions that have been identified

          6  already.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Could you send

          8  it to me?

          9                 CHIEF MARKMAN: Absolutely. By Friday

         10  you will have that list.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you.

         12                 Council Member McCaffrey.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: In terms of

         14  the issue in terms of traffic control, we see the

         15  initiative now where you have the new officers in

         16  the academy put out for traffic duty. One of the

         17  problems that we are seeing, however, is that the

         18  orientation is basically towards Manhattan, and not

         19  to say that it should not be, but in order to get to

         20  Manhattan during this period of time you have got to

         21  get through Brooklyn, Queens, Bronx, et cetera, and

         22  we have ongoing problems in our areas in which we

         23  don't see the Department aggressively involved in

         24  terms of that same allocation or recognition of

         25  those officers. You can't get to Long Island City to
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          2  get to Manhattan. If you can't go over the Queens

          3  Borough Bridge, you are not going to be stuck on

          4  57th Street, you are going to be stuck in Queens

          5  Plaza.

          6                 So, the question is, what are you

          7  going to do differently this year than what has been

          8  done in the past?

          9                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: For the first

         10  time this year we have identified choke points in

         11  each borough, and we are assigning both recruits

         12  from the Academy and traffic enforcement agencies to

         13  those areas. Specifically we have identified some

         14  shopping areas that are impacted, as well as the

         15  59th Street Bridge and the bridges in Brooklyn.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: No, excuse

         17  me, it is the Queens Borough Bridge.

         18                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Sorry. I stand

         19  corrected.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER McCAFFREY: The

         21  question in terms of the traffic control secondly as

         22  it applies to areas of Long Island City, we have

         23  asked this in the past, Commissioner, I have to ask

         24  it again, the City of New York has got to go out and

         25  go after those folks who are illegally parked, et
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          2  cetera, and the biggest villains there is the City

          3  of New York.

          4                 Now, at some point you are going to

          5  have to come along and you are going to have to end

          6  up saying to the other City agencies, hey, guys, you

          7  are going to deal with it, we are going to start

          8  dealing with you the same way you want to deal with

          9  the citizens of the City of New York.

         10                 The folks from the Design and

         11  Construction agency are not Gods, they are not

         12  entitled to parking permits, School Construction

         13  Authority, the Taxi and Limousine Commission, the

         14  Fire Department, the NYPD, et cetera, someone is

         15  going to have to take action out there because we

         16  are killing the private sector in Long Island City.

         17  And Commissioner, the biggest item, they come to us

         18  and say we have no place to be able to park and to

         19  get around. So, the Department is going to have to

         20  step forward.

         21                 I understand it is not a pleasant

         22  interagency experience, but you are going to have to

         23  begin to do that, because otherwise we are killing

         24  the folks that are paying our salaries, so-to-speak.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you,

          3  Council Member McCaffrey.

          4                 Councilman Martin Golden.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you, Mr.

          6  Chairman.

          7                 Good afternoon, ladies and gentlemen.

          8  I understood you saying you were going to put more

          9  vehicles on the street, is that for unmarked

         10  vehicles, hopefully, as well for the different

         11  precincts?

         12                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, one of the

         13  biggest requests from our precinct commanders is

         14  often non-descript vehicles, because they believe

         15  they are very effective in crime reduction.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: They are.

         17                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: So we will be

         18  putting more of those out.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I was in an

         20  ancient vehicle yesterday at the 68 Precinct, I

         21  didn't know these cars were still alive, but we do

         22  have more vehicles coming out.

         23                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We do.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And what date

         25  do we think we will be getting new?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We stagger them,

          3  but I will be happy to get you the schedule, Mr.

          4  Golden.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you.

          6                 The school safety crime, with the

          7  takeover; is crime down? And weapon confiscation, is

          8  that down as well?

          9                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Crime is down

         10  about 26 percent. Based on, and I have to be totally

         11  honest here, based on comparing to our own figures,

         12  since we started keeping figures, because school

         13  safety kept their figures quite differently than we

         14  do in the NYPD, but comparing like periods

         15  month-to-month, we are seeing a 26 percent

         16  reduction.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And weapons

         18  confiscation?

         19                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Weapons

         20  confiscations, Chief Lawrence, Chief of School

         21  Safety.

         22                 CHIEF LAWRENCE: We have confiscated a

         23  little over a thousand weapons this far this school

         24  year, compared to about 1,200 last year same time.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Has that gone
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          2  up considerably though from when you started taking

          3  your own numbers?

          4                 CHIEF LAWRENCE: I am talking about

          5  this school year, from July 1, until the present

          6  date, we have confiscated about 1,000, which is down

          7  compared to the same period last year.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 The gang activity, did we see an

         11  increase of gang activity in the City of New York,

         12  or is that a figment?

         13                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: There are gangs

         14  in the City of New York. We don't have the problem

         15  that Los Angeles and Chicago has.

         16                 One of the things that we have done

         17  is we have identified the gangs in New York over the

         18  last three years through our gang strategy.

         19                 We believe we had 31 active gangs in

         20  New York overall categories. We have seen a five

         21  percent decrease in the last quarter since we have

         22  implemented our gang strategy. We have seen a fairly

         23  steady decrease after the initial increase because

         24  of our increased reporting.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I have seen it
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          2  like I have seen in my community, I have seen gangs

          3  of just groups of kids that hung out in a group

          4  named the PLO or the 666, these are different names

          5  of groups that they call themselves gangs, but I see

          6  them graduating to gangs like the Crypts. Now, I

          7  don't know if they are running around and just

          8  taking their names "The Crypts", I don't know if

          9  they would allow that.

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: You know,

         11  surprisingly, Councilman, there is no protocol or

         12  requirement to become a Crypt or a Blood as far as

         13  what we call gang sets. You know, if six kids take

         14  red bandanas and put them around their heads, they

         15  can call themselves Bloods, and many often do.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Do we see a

         17  rise in the Crypt gang coming?

         18                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We have seen over

         19  the last couple of years a rise in the Crypts and

         20  the Bloods. But what we are seeing, which is

         21  encouraging, is a decrease in gang-related violence

         22  and gang-related crime.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: The beacons,

         24  or the after school programs that are in the

         25  different precincts or in different community City
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          2  Council districts, is there any coordination on a

          3  precinct level to work with the beacon schools as to

          4  hours and programs and times so we can get some of

          5  these younger gangs before they graduate to the

          6  Crypts, into these programs?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: There is, and in

          8  fact, we are working with the Chancellor's office on

          9  a youth at risk program to identify those young

         10  people who do just what you described, might

         11  graduate from small sets into big gangs, and looking

         12  at alternatives for these young people.

         13                 We have the ASPIRE Program, which is

         14  a combination of our gang resistance and drug

         15  resistance program in 60 housing developments in the

         16  City. We are continuing to expand our Youth Academy

         17  and we are expanding our Explorer Program targeting

         18  to have an Explorer post in every precinct.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you.

         20                 I was in the 68 last night, and they

         21  had a civilian radio patrol group and I was

         22  impressed to see that there were about 30 people

         23  involved in this civilian patrol. Do we see a lot of

         24  that going on now in block watches? Is that

         25  increasing?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We have hundreds

          3  of civilian patrols throughout the City. We have a

          4  protocol in which we work with them. We identify

          5  them, we even supply them with equipment, and they

          6  are very helpful. They are our eyes and ears in many

          7  cases.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I was waiting

          9  for that last comment, "supply them with equipment".

         10  I think they need an increase in radios in the

         11  precincts, if we can take a look at that.

         12                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We will take a

         13  look at it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: What about

         15  vehicles? Do they get vehicles?

         16                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No, they use

         17  their own.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: They use their

         19  own vehicles.

         20                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, unless they

         21  are in our auxiliary police program.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Unless the

         23  City Council members provide funding for that.

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: There you go.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Or the Police

          3  Department could provide it from asset forfeiture

          4  funds, couldn't it?

          5                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: By law we can

          6  provide up to 15 percent of asset forfeiture funds

          7  for community programs. We did provide $100,000 last

          8  year, we are going to provide a similar amount this

          9  year.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Would you then

         11  within that 15 percent be able to provide more than

         12  100,000?

         13                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We could, if we

         14  didn't have the requirement of our own. What we have

         15  seen is a decrease in asset forfeiture funds over

         16  the last couple of years.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But how much is

         18  it? It is tens of millions of dollars, is it not?

         19                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: It is. And it

         20  supports, to a large extent, our drug enforcement

         21  efforts in the City.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Based on the

         23  balance then you don't think it would make sense to

         24  provide more of the asset forfeiture for the groups

         25  that Council Member Golden was just praising?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We could

          3  certainly take a look at it at this point. I think

          4  100,000 is what we are going to provide.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you.

          7                 I don't know, I noticed and I think

          8  my colleagues noticed it too, in certain precincts

          9  we see more police officers involved and we don't

         10  see some police officers involved, I happen to be

         11  very fortunate in the 68 and the 66 and 62

         12  precincts, we get a lot of officers that are

         13  involved. Are they rated? Does this come out in any

         14  way in CompStat? Do they have any way of knowing

         15  which officers are community involved and which ones

         16  aren't involved, and is that a system in their

         17  points, in their promotion?

         18                 CHIEF MARKMAN: Their community

         19  involvement is reflected in their activity and their

         20  performance evaluations that are made both monthly

         21  and annually, and their community component, part of

         22  their evaluation is a community component. So, yes,

         23  it is evaluated and measured.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And that is

         25  monitored by the CO of the precinct or their
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          2  supervisors?

          3                 CHIEF MARKMAN: Inasmuch as the

          4  position would warrant a community component, yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Because I see

          6  a lot of officers, I see some that are really -- I

          7  mean, these guys are really pushing the envelope out

          8  there, helping the children, working with our

          9  seniors, and I see some guys --

         10                 CHIEF MARKMAN: Yes, but your SNU team

         11  may be involved in narcotics enforcement, which is

         12  helping the community as well. So, everyone is

         13  contributing in their own way and in a very defined

         14  way.

         15                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: But we do

         16  recognize cops when they do that. In fact, I just

         17  presided over a ceremony at the Police Academy where

         18  we gave awards to 200 police officers who are

         19  involved in the cops and kids program, primarily

         20  basketball and softball with the coach community

         21  teams. So, it is something we encourage, we have

         22  over 200 cops beyond that who are involved

         23  voluntarily and mentally, young people throughout

         24  the City, it is something that we encourage

         25  significantly.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And one of my

          3  last questions, how is PAL working? Do we have more

          4  dollars in PAL?

          5                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: PAL is working

          6  great. I am the honorary chairman of PAL, we opened

          7  the Harlem Center recently, we opened the Bronx

          8  center last year, we will be opening the Queens

          9  Center hopefully within a year and a half, which

         10  will be a new unique center. It will be a law

         11  enforcement high school during the day and a PAL

         12  center in the afternoon and evening. The PAL is

         13  working great. We have over 139 play streets this

         14  past summer throughout the City and PAL really

         15  works.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you for

         17  the question that you have answered, because we see

         18  a lot of kids out there these days, and we see them

         19  with no organized activity and kids that just don't

         20  go into organized activities, so it is important

         21  that we have these programs with our after schools,

         22  our beacons, our PALs, and our police officers

         23  working with youth, I congratulate you.

         24                 To each and every one of your

         25  members, a happy Thanksgiving and a safe and good
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          2  holiday.

          3                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Thank you. To you

          4  as well.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you,

          6  Councilman Golden.

          7                 Councilwoman Madeline Provenzano.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Where did

          9  everybody go? I apologize for my absence, I had a

         10  hearing with the City Planning Commission on our

         11  golf course.

         12                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Oh, good.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: So,

         14  hopefully in a year and a half we will all be

         15  playing golf.

         16                 I would like to comment, and just

         17  briefly comment on, I don't want to resurrect it,

         18  but I personally feel I have to comment on the issue

         19  of the homeless and sleeping in the streets. We have

         20  it in my area, it is not as, you know, the same

         21  amount as you see in Manhattan, I am sure. But I

         22  have them in Pelham Bay and Westchester Square, and

         23  I have a problem with someone sleeping in the

         24  streets because they may be sleeping there right

         25  now, but when they are awake they could be
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          2  panhandling or littering or living somewhere off the

          3  subway station, and I think there is also a matter

          4  of their own safety. They could be robbed, killed,

          5  raped, so I think it goes beyond, you know, well,

          6  this poor person is just sleeping in the streets,

          7  there is a lot of other implications that are

          8  involved there.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But, again, you

         10  can't arrest somebody for what he may do or what she

         11  may do in the future.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: We stand

         13  on the record.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: You know,

         15  you have your opinion --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is not a

         17  matter of opinion, it is a matter of law.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: You did

         19  say it was your opinion, and I don't think your

         20  opinion should permeate, with all due respect, the

         21  entire proceeding. We each have our opinion and I

         22  just felt that I had to --

         23                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: And I think the

         24  opinion that you just stated is accurate. One of the

         25  things that anybody, whether they agree with this
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          2  policy or not, will tell you, is that a good

          3  majority of the people who are sleeping on the

          4  street are homeless and have significant emotional

          5  and mental problems, and that is not said in

          6  denigration, that is said as a fact --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Or drug

          8  related, they could be junkies.

          9                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: You know, if you

         10  talk to any doctor or psychologist who knows about

         11  the homeless, and I agree with you, there is great

         12  potential for harm.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: I also

         14  wanted to bring up an issue that my colleague

         15  covered fairly well, but we are noticing in my area

         16  and I would like it if Chief Lawrence would stay

         17  there, I would like to speak to him, with gang

         18  activity. Columbus High School has been having a

         19  problem there. And I know that we have lots of

         20  programs, we have a beacon school in my area, we

         21  have PAL, but you know better than I do that the

         22  kinds of kids, maybe not necessarily kids, that are

         23  involved in this gang activity are also the kids

         24  that don't participate in these programs. And it

         25  appears to me that gang activity seems to be
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          2  returning, coming back, and specifically as it

          3  relates to the problem we are having, and really you

          4  answered a lot of questions. But I am concerned and

          5  I am just wondering if there is anything specific --

          6                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We will have

          7  Chief Lawrence take a look at it and see what we can

          8  do to help.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Okay,

         10  thank you. Have a good holiday.

         11                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: You too.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Just some more

         13  questions which we have developed, I will try to be

         14  as brief as possible.

         15                 Right at the top at the outset on the

         16  indicators, reports of shooting victims, reports of

         17  shooting incidents, and one has gone down 5.1

         18  percent and one has gone down 5.3 percent, but less

         19  rate of decline than those indicators have shown in

         20  recent years. Why has the rate of reduction been

         21  less?

         22                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Because there are

         23  less people shooting other people, we have had a 61

         24  percent decline in shooting incidents over the last

         25  five years.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So as a result

          3  you think that the base being less, it is

          4  unrealistic to think that the rate of reduction

          5  continues?

          6                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No, I think the

          7  rate of reduction can continue but I think that it

          8  is a fallacious method.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I am just

         10  asking.

         11                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: When you look at

         12  the reduction in the number of shooting incidents in

         13  this City, compared not only to itself, but compared

         14  nationally, there is no other City in the world that

         15  has had this kind of reduction and it should be

         16  being saluted not criticized.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is not

         18  criticism. You know, the level at which there was

         19  shooting in the City also, I mean is incredible with

         20  respect to a lot of other major cities in the world.

         21                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Absolutely. The

         22  policy in this city was pretty much to permit it.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, I wouldn't

         24  say that we permitted it. I won't get into that.

         25                 We have figures here with respect to
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          2  operational strength. On page four at the bottom,

          3  your staffing, we see that operational strength, for

          4  example, has gone up a modest amount, I think it is

          5  a little over one percent. The Police Department

          6  used to keep track of patrol strength and

          7  enforcement strength, would it make sense to restore

          8  patrol strength and enforcement strength at this

          9  point?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No, because

         11  operational strength is much more reflective of all

         12  of the units that are out there providing service to

         13  the public.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But at a time

         15  when people want to see presence, want to see

         16  officers on patrol, wouldn't it be an additional

         17  indicator of something that people are interested

         18  in? They are interested in the other things,

         19  undercover operations, investigations, and the like,

         20  but they are also interested as has been said in

         21  patrol, so why not show people --

         22                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: My view is that a

         23  much more accurate reflection of the service that is

         24  being provided to the community has been provided

         25  through providing operational strength.
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          2                 You and I have had this discussion

          3  before, we disagree.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No, we don't

          5  really disagree. It seems to me this would be a

          6  supplement, an additional piece of information,

          7  patrol strength. Seeing what is on patrol, it seems

          8  to me that it would be -- I mean, the more

          9  information, the better.

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, we have not

         11  kept it that way for a couple of years.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I know. You

         13  don't even keep the information?

         14                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No, we have not

         15  kept it that way for a number of years.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, I thought

         17  it was a matter of not providing it, but you don't

         18  keep it?

         19                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We just don't

         20  keep it that way because we don't provide it to

         21  anybody.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         23                 At a time when, you know, for example

         24  the last couple of years we have gone from 38,000

         25  police officers to 40,000 police officers,
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          2  operational strength has gone up a very small

          3  percent, like one percent, at a time when overall

          4  officers on the force have gone up more than that.

          5  Why is that? Why hasn't there been a larger increase

          6  in the operational strength, commensurate with the

          7  increase in officers over the last couple of years?

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Because many of

          9  these officers require support that can only be

         10  provided by police officer and although we don't

         11  reflect them in operational strength, they are the

         12  reason for the crime reduction.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Like what are

         14  you referring to?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Our training

         16  people, our crime scene people, evidence collection

         17  people, all of whom provide a service in support of

         18  the operational strength, but are not actually out

         19  there providing a direct service to the public.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: Excuse

         21  me, Mr. Chairman. We had indicated to your staff

         22  prior that the Police Commissioner had about two

         23  hours available, we are at two and a half hours. We

         24  are really running --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I am just about
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          2  ready to conclude. You know, we did adjourn this

          3  from November 3rd.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: We did

          5  indicate that.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: With respect to

          7  the DWI initiative, we have not yet had an

          8  opportunity to have a hearing on this. We sent you,

          9  just so that we could prepare for the hearing we

         10  sent you a memo dated July 20th setting forth a

         11  number of questions in this area. We have gotten no

         12  response.

         13                 Could we get a response on this and

         14  other questions?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, all of your

         16  many communications have been received and are being

         17  worked on and we will respond to each of them as

         18  appropriate.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Would it be

         20  appropriate to respond to it within the next month

         21  or so before the end of the year so we can do a

         22  hearing in this area? I mean, you are talking about

         23  something from July 20th.

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER GRASSO: And we

         25  are going to continue to do the best we can in the
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          2  context of, you know, numerous requests for

          3  information.  We have the same people responding, as

          4  you know, to the City Council, to the various

          5  branches of the federal government, that have been

          6  making rather broad inquiries an requests for

          7  information, the State Attorney General, and we are

          8  doing the best that we can with all of these

          9  requests, but essentially we have the same people

         10  trying to do everything simultaneously. So it is in

         11  the works.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: With respect to

         13  your gun buy-back program, what does the Department

         14  do with the guns that you are buying back?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: The guns are

         16  destroyed.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: They are

         18  destroyed, okay, good.

         19                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We do not sell

         20  the guns or trade them in, as some other departments

         21  do.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         23                 Have you concluded that that pilot

         24  program has been successful? Do you plan to try it

         25  again?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We will try it

          3  again, but on an intermittent basis. Doing it on a

          4  regular basis I don't think is very effective.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: When might one

          6  expect it?

          7                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We will probably

          8  take a look early next year, maybe in the spring.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: With respect to

         10  the Street Crimes Unit, can you provide us with

         11  information with respect to the representativeness

         12  of members of the Street Crimes Unit now that the

         13  units have been absorbed into the borough command?

         14                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: We will be happy

         15  to.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: With respect to

         17  the school safety function that you have taken over,

         18  maybe you could also come up, Chief Lawrence. Thank

         19  you. I believe you said recently that you don't

         20  monitor, the Police Department officers don't

         21  monitor children, school children in bathrooms,

         22  rather that is the responsibility of teachers,

         23  administrators and aids; can you explain that?

         24                 CHIEF LAWRENCE: You are talking

         25  about, I was quoted in a newspaper article and that
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          2  statement was taken totally out of context. My

          3  response, what I was talking to the reporter about

          4  was the fact that in most of the grammar schools in

          5  the City there is only one school safety officer at

          6  a time, there is no way possible that you could have

          7  one school safety officer escorting kids to the

          8  bathroom.

          9                 The safety of a school is not only

         10  the responsibility of the school safety officer

         11  assigned, but also to the administrative staff

         12  running the school, there should be some

         13  coordination between that staff and school safety,

         14  monitoring kids going to the bathroom in the

         15  elementary school, a kid five years old should be

         16  escorted, one school safety officer can't do that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: But in some

         18  schools, for example, I was in Van Buren High School

         19  teaching a class about two weeks ago, I was really

         20  amazed at how many police officers there are in an

         21  ordinary city high school.

         22                 CHIEF LAWRENCE: There are actually

         23  less police officers assigned to schools now than

         24  were assigned at the time of the transfer.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It still struck
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          2  me as being a lot. I mean, several, you go on to one

          3  floor, you go on to another floor. The basic thing

          4  is, I mean do you try to see to it that the officers

          5  get around, go into bathrooms, go into places? It

          6  seems to me to be a mistake to flag areas as not

          7  under your -- I am not saying you have, I think it

          8  is good to clarify it.

          9                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: There are 145

         10  schools Citywide out of the over 1,000 schools which

         11  have police officers assigned to them. There are 155

         12  police officers in total assigned throughout the

         13  1,000 schools, the rest are school safety agents.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         15                 And do you train these agents to get

         16  to all of the different locations?

         17                 CHIEF LAWRENCE: School safety

         18  officers are given specific assignments in schools

         19  as per the school safety plan. The school safety

         20  plan is the result of the safety committee. The

         21  safety committee of the school, you know, addressing

         22  the safety needs of that school.

         23                 Now school safety officers, they

         24  sweep the hallways, they go through the hallways,

         25  they check the bathrooms, but the specific issue we
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          2  were addressing there was the fact that a

          3  five-year-old kid wasn't escorted to the bathroom.

          4  But they do check bathrooms, they do check hallways.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: But Mr.

          6  Chairman, on your question, since you raised

          7  something, I am a little confused here. I want to

          8  make sure I understand the difference between a

          9  police officer and a school safety agent. And my

         10  question then is, because I know the difference

         11  between a police officer and an agent, the school

         12  safety agents, who used to be called school safety

         13  officers, are they now wearing the same uniform like

         14  the police officer?

         15                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: No.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: Their uniform

         17  is different?

         18                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Their badges,

         19  their shields are different, the uniforms are

         20  different. Very different.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: So, when the

         22  Chairman refers to Police Officers, you are

         23  referring to actual police officers; is that what I

         24  am hearing?

         25                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: I don't know. You
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          2  will have to ask the Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think he just

          4  said there are about 150 police officers who are in

          5  the school system.

          6                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Citywide.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Citywide.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: There is one

          9  police officer assigned to Van Buren, you are

         10  obviously mistaking school safety officers for

         11  police officers.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: They are outside

         13  the school, there are officers inside the school,

         14  there is a significant presence.

         15                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Those are school

         16  safety agents, not police officers.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And one officer

         18  you say.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Mr. Chairman,

         20  if I may just add. At release time, we get a lot of

         21  radio cars respond to release time, is that what you

         22  are talking about? Or the officers being present

         23  when there is release --

         24                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Many of our

         25  schools have safe corridor programs where at the
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          2  dismissal time or at entry time there are a number

          3  of police officers there to assure that the students

          4  get back and forth to school safely, but they are

          5  not assigned to the school.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: The most

          7  important thing, it seems to me, is that we get an

          8  active presence going all over the school, not

          9  being, you know --

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Again, I think I

         11  have to reiterate what Chief Lawrence said. This

         12  entire school safety transition and plan is a

         13  partnership between us and the Board of Education.

         14  Every school has a school safety plan that is

         15  jointly put together by the Police Department, the

         16  superintendent and the principal of the school and

         17  approved by both the Board of Education and the

         18  NYPD. So, the response that you see is a carefully

         19  thought out response by all of the parties involved.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Can you also

         21  give us, if you want you can give us, you want to

         22  tell us, the changes in training that have been made

         23  for the school safety agents, since the new system

         24  has gone into effect, how is it changed, and the

         25  like. How is the program different from the way --
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          2                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: Yes, we will

          3  provide that for the record.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. I

          5  understand you have another engagement, we are

          6  scheduled to have another meeting December 9th,

          7  isn't that correct?

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: That is correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: With respect to

         10  the implementation of measures to try to reduce

         11  police misconduct that were recommended by the

         12  Public Safety Committee and by the Mayor's Task

         13  Force and the centers following the Louima case. I,

         14  in fact, mentioned this when we were together on

         15  February 17th. We are finally getting to it on

         16  December 9th. But we will continue then, December

         17  9th, in the morning.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ROBLES: What topic is

         19  on?

         20                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: The measures that

         21  were recommended by the Mayor's Task Force and by

         22  the Council's Public Safety Committee to reduce

         23  instances of police abuse in the wake of the Louima

         24  case. So, we will continue then.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 Happy holiday to all of you, and

          3  thanks for your cooperation today.

          4                 COMMISSIONER SAFIR: To you as well.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 12:35 p.m.)
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